Romanian Journal of Anesthaesia and Intensive Care

CLINICAL PRACTICE: SHOULD WE RADICALLY ALTER OUR SEDATION OF CRITICAL CARE PATIENTS, ESPECIALLY GIVEN THE COVID-19 **PANDEMICS?**

D Longrois¹, MD, PhD, F Petitjeans², MD, O Simonet³, MD, M de Kock³, MD, PhD, M Belliveau⁴, MD, C Pichot⁵, MD, Th Lieutaud⁶, MD, PhD, M Ghignone⁷, MD, FRCPC, FCCP, L Quintin², MD, PhD

¹Départements d'Anesthésie-Réanimation. Université Paris-Diderot and Paris VII Sorbonne-Paris-Cité. Hôpital Bichat-Claude Bernard¹. Assistance Publique-Hôpitaux de Paris and UMR 5698, Paris. France ²Hôpital d'Instruction des Armées Desgenettes, Lyon, France ³Centre Hospitalier de Wallonie Picarde, Tournai, Belgium

⁴Hôpital de St Jerome, St Jérôme, Québec, Canada ⁵Hôpital Louis Pasteur, Dole, France

^eHópital de Bourg en Bresse, France; Centre de Recherche en Neurosciences (TIGER, UMR CRNS 5192-INSERM 1098), Lyon-Bron, France ⁷J.F. Kennedy Hospital North Campus, West Palm Beach, Florida, USA

Abstract

The high number of patients infected with the SARS-CoV-2 virus requiring care for ARDS puts sedation in the critical care unit (CCU) to the edge. Depth of sedation has evolved over the last 40 years (no-sedation, deep sedation, daily emergence, minimal sedation, etc.). Most guidelines now recommend determining the depth of sedation and minimizing the use of benzodiazepines and opioids. The broader use of alpha-2 adrenergic agonists ('alpha-2 agonists') led to sedation regimens beginning at admission to the CCU that contrast with hypnotics+opioids ("conventional" sedation), with major consequences for cognition, ventilation and circulatory performance. The same doses of alpha-2 agonists used for 'cooperative' sedation (ataraxia, analgognosia) elicit no respiratory depression but modify the autonomic nervous system (cardiac parasympathetic activation, attenuation of excessive cardiac and vasomotor sympathetic activity), Alpha-2 agonists should be selected only in patients who benefit from their effects ('personalized' indications, as opposed to a 'one size fits all' approach). Then, titration to effect is required, especially in the setting of systemic hypotension and/or hypovolemia. Since no general guidelines exist for the use of alpha-2 agonists for CCU sedation, our clinical experience is summarized for the benefit of physicians in clinical situations in which a recommendation might never exist (refractory delirium tremens; unstable, hypovolemic, hypotensive patients, etc.). Because the physiology of alpha-2 receptors and the pharmacology of alpha-2 agonists lead to personalized indications, some details are offered. Since interactions between conventional sedatives and alpha-2 agonists have received little attention, these interactions are addressed. Within the existing guidelines for CCU sedation, this article could facilitate the use of alpha-2 agonists as effective and safe sedation while awaiting large, multicentre trials and more evidence-based medicine.

Keywords

Critical care, sedation, general anaesthesia, conventional sedation, cooperative sedation, alpha-2 adrenergic agonists, alpha-2 agonists, clonidine, dexmedetomidine, guanfacine

Table of contents

Abbreviations and glossary Introduction: A global shift in the depth of sedation and drug regimens for critical care sedation Part I: Rationale for the use of alpha-2 agonists in CCU sedation I) Rationale for the use of alpha-2 agonists in the CCU II) Consequences of alpha-2 agonist use in the CCU: concerted nurse-physician changes III) Recommended doses 1) Sedation 2) Circulation 1) Changing requirements over time 2) Changing sedative efficacy 3) Changing the required effect from the physician perspective 1) Rescue sedation	2 2 3 4 8 9 9 10 11 11 11
 1) Rescue sedation 2) Circulatory instability 	11 13

[.] Corresponding author e-mail: lucquintinx@gmail.com

^{© 2020} Stelian L Quintin et al. This is an open access article distributed under the Creative Commons Attribution License which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

1) De novo administration in a circulatory-stable patient	14
2) De novo administration of alpha-2 agonist in the setting of hypovolemia	14
3) De novo administration of an alpha-2 agonist in the presence of vasopressor	14
4) Switch from conventional to cooperative sedation	14
5) Switch to spontaneous breathing	15
6) Tapering of alpha-2 agonists	15
7) Discharge to the ward	15
1) Circulation	15
2) Ventilation	16
3) Temperature	16
4) Ogilvie syndrome	16
IV) Dexmedetomidine vs. clonidine	16
Conclusion	17
Part II: Clinical Applications	17
I) Delirium	17
1) Admission from the ward	18
2) Admission from the ward following benzodiazepine overdose	18
II) Postoperative sedation	19
Conclusion	21
Insert I: Functional anatomy of alpha-2 adrenergic receptors	22
Anatomy:	22
Physiology:	23
Insert II: Addressing hypovolemia before administration of alpha-2 agonists	24
References	26

Abbreviations and glossary

APRV: airway pressure release ventilation

A-V block: atrio-ventricular block

ARDS: acute respiratory distress syndrome

BIPAP: bilevel positive airway pressure

BIS: bispectral index, computerized electroencephalogram bpm: beats per min

CAM-ICU: confusion assessment method for intensive care unit Cardiac parasympathetic activity: 'cardiac vagal activity', activity of the vagus projecting to the heart

Cardiac sympathetic activity: activity of the sympathetic nervous system projecting to the heart

CCU: critical care unit

CMV: controlled mechanical ventilation

CVM: cardiac vagal motoneurons, that is, cardiac parasympathetic motoneurons located in the lower brain stem (nucleus ambiguous) and projecting to the sinus node

Cooperative sedation: sedation evoked by alpha-2 agonists CT: computerized tomography

DT: delirium tremens

HR: heart rate

LC: locus coeruleus, noradrenergic A6 group located in the upper brain stem projecting to rostral brain and dorsal horn NIV : non-invasive ventilation $P/F : PaO_2/FiO_2$

PLR: passive leg raising

n/g: nasogastric NMB: neuromuscular blocker RASS : Richmond Agitation Sedation Scale RRT: renal replacement therapy RVLM: rostral ventrolateral medulla, 'vasomotor centre', projecting to the sympathetic preganglionic neurons in the intermediolateral cell column. SsvcO2: O2 saturation in the superior vena cava TBI: traumatic brain injury TEE: transoesophageal echocardiography TIVA: 'light' total intravenous anaesthesia, analgo-sedation, conventional sedation TTE: transthoracic echocardiography Vasomotor sympathetic activity: activity of the sympathetic system directed toward veins and arteries.

VAS: visual analogue scale

VO2: O₂ consumption

PS: pressure support MAP: mean arterial pressure

Introduction: A global shift in the depth of sedation and drug regimens for critical care sedation

The use of deep sedation, that is, *de facto*[1] general anaesthesia, in the critical care unit (CCU) generated concerns.[1] Accordingly, US guidelines for CCU sedation

(conventional sedation, 'analgo-sedation', or light total intravenous anaesthesia [TIVA]: midazolam+sufentanil or propofol+remifentanil) have changed the emphasis from benzodiazepines and opioids use[2] towards analgosedation without opioids ('opioid-free analgo-sedation'), with no/minimal benzodiazepines use. Indeed, high plasma concentrations of benzodiazepines and opioids are associated with CCU delirium.[3] The German societies of medicine have supported this trend[4] and suggested major changes.[5] Currently, the emphasis of sedation strategies is on prevention and treatment of CCU delirium. Thus, the implication is that the patient does not need to be 'asleep and motionless' but rather alert to actively participate to daily care.[4] The depth of sedation, from its initiation, is related to the duration of mechanical ventilation, hospital mortality and long-term outcomes.[6] Indeed, the pendulum swung back[7] from continuous sedation to interrupted sedation,[8] 'no sedation'[9] and now to 'cooperative sedation', a new indication for old drugs. Alpha-2 adrenergic agonists ('alpha-2 agonists': clonidine, guanfacine) were used in the '60-'80s as the second-generation sympatholytics and antihypertensive agents in the cardiology setting. They are currently used in the CCU as sedative agents (dexmedetomidine, clonidine) since they reduce the affective-motivational component of pain (indifference to pain, 'analgognosia')[10] and evoke indifference to the environment ('ataraxia')¹. A landmark article[9] randomized patients under pressure support (PS) ventilation to 'no sedation' vs. sedation 'as usual' ('no sedation': morphine 2.5 to 5-mg bolus as needed, verbal reassurance as needed by an extra individual, and haloperidol 1-5 mg when delirium was observed, followed by a propofol infusion if the patient seemed uncomfortable; 'as usual': morphine 2.5 to 5 mg bolus as needed, propofol infusion to a Ramsay score of 3-4, and daily awakening). No sedation resulted in a greater need for reassurance, a higher incidence of delirium (no sedation: 20%; sedation: 7%), fewer ventilation days (p < 0.02), shorter CCU and hospital stays (p < 0.05), lower CCU and hospital mortality (non-significant: ns),[9] and no long-term psychological sequelae.[13] The same investigators randomized patients to light sedation in both groups (no sedation: RASS: -1.3/-0.7 vs. light sedation: -2.3/-1.8) with survival unaffected.[14] By contrast, In agreement with,[6] deep sedation affects survival. This report[9] lays the groundwork for the

introduction of 'cooperative' sedation, which is defined here as sedation achieved with alpha-2 agonists as *first-line* sedative agents.[15–17]

The German guidelines[4] distinguish sedation strategies for pregnant and breastfeeding women; end-of-life patients; patients with severe burns, multiple trauma, or intracranial hypertension; post-cardiac surgery patients; and patients on extracorporeal membrane oxygenation (ECMO) or in the prone position. The present manuscript is restricted to clinical situations (part II: alcohol withdrawal, refractory delirium tremens (DT), hypotensive/hypovolemic patients, multiple trauma and cardiac surgery patients), in which we[15,17] have gained expertise since 1980 in the US, Quebec, Belgium and France. Admittedly, this manuscript delineates the clinical reasoning based on pathophysiological/pharmacological lineaments in the absence of recommendations, evidence-based medicine or quidelines. Presumably, quidelines will never be issued in settings such as refractory DT, hypovolemic or frail patients. The core message is to use alpha-2 agonists as first-line sedatives, [15-17] avoiding further aggravation of a patient's condition, such as exacerbated circulatory instability CCU-acquired pathologies (emergence delirium, or myoneuropathy, immuno-paralysis,[18] malnutrition, etc.). We will take advantage of this article to propose several detailed video classes on the use of alpha-2 agonists in specific situations.

This article includes the following formatting.

- a) Part I: a rationale for the use of alpha-2 agonists in CCU sedation. Given the paucity of evidence-based data, speculations are separated from the remainder of the manuscript: the notation used by physiologists[19–21] ([....]) is used with a different font.
- b) Part II: the use of alpha-2 agonists is delineated in specific settings (alcohol withdrawal, refractory delirium tremens (DT), hypotensive/hypovolemic patients, multiple trauma and cardiac surgery patients). Basic elements are provided in inserts I and II for understanding the autonomic nervous system physiology, the pharmacology of alpha-2 agonists, and the consequences with respect to adequate volume replacement before administering alpha-2 agonists. Abridged tables translate guidelines[22] into personalized clinical reasoning in these settings.

Part I: Rationale for the use of alpha-2 agonists in CCU sedation

Several arguments suggest using alpha-2 agonists for CCU sedation: pharmacology (opioid-sparing effects, analgesia, sedation mimicking physiological stage 2 sleep), pathophysiology (modified autonomic nervous system,

¹ After clonidine 300 mg p.o., volunteers switch easily from light sleep to wakefulness ('fairly alert') and back.[11] In the CCU, under dexmedetomidine: a) an intubated child played a game of little horses with his nurse (P Delaire, RN, personal communication); and b) an intubated patient reported ischemic chest pain, allowing for treatment.[12]

spontaneous ventilation, noninvasive ventilation [NIV]) and outcome-related.[23-28]

I) Rationale for the use of alpha-2 agonists in the CCU

A) Cardio-pulmonary interactions

An opioid-free analgo-sedation strategy combining non-opioid analgesics and alpha-2 agonists does not cause respiratory depression. This absence of respiratory depression combined with indifference to the environment ('ataraxia') has a major impact, allowing one to use continuous NIV for an extended period.[29-33]² When possible, such a strategy circumvents tracheal intubation ('intubation') or reintubation after tracheal extubation³ ('extubation'), which could limit the use of controlled invasive mechanical ventilation (CMV) and the administration of neuromuscular blockers (NMBs). In turn, spontaneous breathing evokes improved cardioventilatory interactions[21] and lowers vasopressor requirements[38-40] and possibly volume requirements. During the COVID-19 pandemics, many patients required high-flow oxygen therapy for days/weeks. As alpha-2 agonists do not depress the respiratory drive,[41] they were our first-line drugs with drug associations delineated below.

B) Alpha-2 agonists: anti-hypertensive vs. sedative agents? In the 1960s-1970s, the regulatory approval of alpha-2 agonists (clonidine, guanfacine, etc.) and imidazolines (rimelidine, etc.) as anti-hypertensive agents led to the equating of alpha-2 agonists with centrally acting antihypertensive agents, attenuating back towards baseline any possible excessive sympathetic activity targeted to the heart and vessels ('cardiac and vasomotor sympathetic activity' normalized to baseline activity). In the 1990-2000s, the regulatory approval of dexmedetomidine as a sedative for CCU sedation led to the equating of alpha-2 agonists with anaesthetic adjuncts[42] or sedative[43] agents. Both views are *misleading:* clonidine was synthetized as a nasal decongestant and then administered to a human 'volunteer', unexpectedly resulting in prolonged sleep, bradycardia and hypotension following nasal administration of the

equivalent of 20 pills of clonidine.[44] Deducing sedative properties from circulatory properties[45] or vice-versa[46] is irrelevant: the doses of alpha-2 agonists necessary to achieve sedation are identical to the doses that evoke bradycardia or hypotension. In healthy volunteers, heart rate (HR) decreases (-10 to -20%) and normalization of blood pressure after the initial hypotensive phase are surrogate markers of sedation (40 < Bispectral Index (BIS) <60; more than 80% probability of loss of responsiveness).[47,48] The circulatory and cognitive/analgesic effects of alpha-2 agonists are anatomically and functionally[49] unrelated[50] part II, insert I). Indeed, the only common link is pharmacological, i.e., the alpha-2 adrenergic receptor itself. Since this alpha-2 adrenergic receptor is widely distributed[51,52] in the central (brain and spine) and autonomic (central and peripheral) nervous systems (Figure 1), multiple effects occur, including autonomic and cognitive effects. Indeed, a brief inventory (I, D) suggests that alpha-2 agonists present miraculous pharmacodynamics ('wonder drugs'[53]). More simply, because these agents act via



Figure 1: Impact of alpha-2 agonists on the noradrenergic dorsal bundle, adrenergic ventral bundle and cardiac parasympathetic motoneurons. Modified from Pichot, J Intens Care Med, 2012, 27 : 219–37.[15]

a) Following depletion of the central and peripheral noradrenergic/adrenergic systems by reserpine, a bolus of a low-dose alpha-2 agonist generates hypertension (Kobinger 1967 quoted from (147)): hypertension is a consequence of an action on peripheral vascular alpha-1 receptors and extravascular alpha-2 receptors themselves (Figure 3), independent of the release of noradrenaline, that is, *independent* of the sympathetic nervous system. The observation of a peripheral effect of the alpha-2 agonist after depletion of sympathetic nerves (Kobinger, 1967) is replicated centrally: the anaesthetic-sparing effect of an alpha-2 agonist is observed after full destruction of catecholaminergic cell bodies (Figure 5 in (216)). Consequently, alpha-2 agonists

² In ARDS patients (PaO2/FiO2 [P/F]: face mask: 144; helmet: 118; Acute Physiology And Chronic Health Evaluation: APACHE=26), helmet NIV rather than mask NIV leads to a shorter duration of ventilation and lower mortality [34]. This finding might be related to a higher positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP) level and lower pressure support [35], i.e., "inverted settings" [36].

³ Tolerance to NIV is substantially increased under sedation with alpha-2 agonists.[37] Accordingly, the duration of invasive ventilation[37] is reduced by delaying intubation or allowing for early extubation.[37]

cannot evoke sedation via pre-synaptic autoreceptors located on catecholaminergic cell bodies. The claim that alpha-2 agonists act through pre-synaptic alpha-2 autoreceptors located on noradrenergic locus coeruleus cell bodies[46,217] is misleading. A nuanced discussion appears in (50, 218).

b) The alpha-2 agonists inhibit the adrenergic and glutamatergic neurons[219] located in the rostral ventrolateral medulla (pre-sympathetic neurons in the RVLM 'vasomotor centre'), decreasing the set point of the vascular sympathetic baroreflex without diminishing the neurons' reactivity to decreased systemic pressure (220). The pre-sympathetic adrenergic and glutamatergic neurons project from the lower brain stem to the spinal intermediolateral cell column, from which sympathetic pre-ganglionic neurons originate. Alpha-2 agonists inhibit RVLM neurons, reduce cardiac sympathetic activity (reduced noradrenaline release leading to slow 'passive' bradycardia in the presence of a slow intrasynaptic NA reuptake) and reduce vascular sympathetic activity (slow 'passive' vasodilation).

c) Alpha-2 agonists stimulate alpha-2 receptors located on or near cardiac parasympathetic neurons ('cardiac vagal motoneurons') in the nucleus ambiguous external formation (dorsal and medial to the vasomotor centre). In a healthy, supine, resting volunteer, a microdose of vasopressor administered as a bolus (e.g., phenylephrine 10 to 30 mg) evokes minimal increase in systemic pressure next to the resting, baseline, pressure, stimulates the cardiac parasympathetic neurons and evokes fast 'active' bradycardia,[221] owing to active acetylcholine release and rapid intrasynaptic breakdown. This process increases the slope of the pressure-RR interval relationship[222] (slope of the cardiac baroreflex 'reactivity'). This rapid bradycardia evokes stabilization of the blood pressure within one beat. [223] in the supine resting healthy volunteer.

The circulatory properties of the alpha-2 agonists are explained by:

a) increased active cardiac parasympathetic reactivity, and

b) normalized cardiac and vascular sympathetic activity.

In the CCU patient, this process occurs in the setting of high baseline sympathetic activity and suppressed baseline parasympathetic activity. In addition, full normalization of increased sympathetic activity is not necessarily achieved, according to the dose of the alpha-2 agonist and the amplitude of the sympathetic activation. In contrast, in the healthy, supine volunteer, the baseline low normal sympathetic activity is deactivated to residual activity, while the cardiac parasympathetic activity is activated.

the sympathetic and parasympathetic systems and dorsal noradrenergic bundle (part II, insert I), they have numerous targets, via widely distributed central alpha-2 receptors[51,52] and numerous peripheral sites of action. The multiple effects explain their wide-ranging indications (hypertension, attention-deficit/hyperactivity, Tourette's syndrome, rapid opioid detoxification, etc.), which are restricted here to CCU implications.[15,17,21,54]

C) Perspective: normalized sympathetic activity vs. sedation The autonomic nervous system is a *coordinating* system, acting during 'fight or flight' responses,[55] 'freezing behaviour', diving reflex, exercise, sleep and so on, The sympathetic system coordinates circulation and ventilation via alpha- and beta-receptors.[56] However, in the CCU, a patient cannot initiate either a fight or flight response because: a) sympathetic hyperactivity lasts for days or weeks, at variance with exercise (except ultralong trails in fit athletes[57]); and b) cardiac parasympathetic ('cardiac vagal') activity is suppressed, in contrast to observations in ultralong trails.[57] Then, after stabilization of the acute cardio-ventilatory distress observed upon admission to the CCU, the sympathetic nervous system is not adaptive any more but mal-adaptive [58,59]4: at variance with rest and recovery of the healthy volunteer, and beyond the period preceding and following admission, adaptation in the CCU is of minimal value. Worse, coordination is lost. In the CCU, after days or weeks, the end result is an overflow of noradrenaline and an exhausted individual. This outcome has also been observed in very different settings ('voodoo death', [65] sudden death observed in the setting of burn-out: karoshi).

The present hypothesis holds the following in the CCU: a) Beta blockers[66,67] and/or alpha-2 agonists attenuate excessive sympathetic hyperactivity. This hyperactivity is normalized pharmacologically toward baseline activity. (sympathetic de-activation, suppressed overflow). b) Increased sympathetic activity could be a factor limiting survival when increasing APACHE score[27] or age[68] is considered.

D) Pharmacology:

The effects of alpha-2 agonists are multiple:

- Minimized stage 2 sleep fragmentation,[69–71] increased or decreased rapid-eye-movement (REM) sleep as a function of dose,[69,72] indifference to the environment ('ataraxia', 'rousability'[43] or 'cooperative' sedation[48]), minimized emergence delirium,[73,74] improved cognition[75] (Figure 2), analgesia,[76,77] indifference to pain or the absence of awareness of pain ('analgognosia'),[10] reduced tremor.[78,79] A patient's comfort and cooperation in the CCU depend on these properties.
- 2) No depression of the respiratory generator,[41,80] as opposed to observations with benzodiazepines, propofol and opioid analgesics, reduced hyperventilation⁵[82] caused by pain or CCU-evoked distress, and a reduced duration of mechanical ventilation[37,83] and CCU stay.[84]
- 3) Improved expiratory mechanics in the setting of

⁴

⁵ Of interest in the setting of weaning under pressure support ventilation to lower ventilator-to-patient dys-synchrony.[81]



Figure 2: Putative mechanism for cooperative sedation and minimization of CCU delirium following alpha-2 agonists. *Top and upper middle*: In paralyzed rats emerging from halothane anaesthesia, during recording of locus coeruleus neurons following administration of clonidine, the slow baseline ('tonic') electrical activity observable between volleys of action potentials

('phasic' activity, middle inset a) is suppressed while leaving intact the phasic activity (middle inset b). Reversal of the effect of clonidine is achieved by the alpha-2 antagonist idazoxan (middle inset c).

Lower middle left: a) A glutamate antagonist, kynurenic acid (KYN), micro-injected next to the locus coeruleus neuron, suppresses the remaining phasic electrical activity observed in middle inset b. Therefore, at least two components, alpha-2 mediated vs. glutamate mediated, are involved in the cooperative sedation evoked by the alpha-2 agonist. Modified from Saunier, Anesthesiology, 1993, 79, 1072–82.[224]

Lower middle right: Putative functioning of the dorsal noradrenergic system following administration of an alpha-2 agonist. In a monkey presenting with hyperactivity, lack of attention, and poor discrimination between signal and detection tasks, a microinjection of clonidine within the locus coeruleus reduces errors. This effect occurs possibly by lowering the tonic activity and increasing the phasic activity. Thus, alpha-2 agonists reinforce the filtering of the locus coeruleus toward a 0-1 functioning, that is, activation vs. inhibition. The neuron shifts towards a 0-1 functioning. An increase in gain (dotted lines) increases the activity of an LC neuron, which receives an excitatory stimulus (increased cognitive activity). The same increase in gain lowers the activity of the same neuron when it receives an inhibitory stimulus (indifference to environment: ataraxia). This schema accounts for the cooperative sedation observed in the CCU when a patient is left undisturbed and fully rousable upon stimulation. Modified from Servan-Schreiber, Science, 1990, 249: 892–5.[225] Aston-Jones, J Comp Neurol, 2005, 493: 99–110[226] and Pichot, Ann Fr Anesth Rean, 2012, 31: 876–96.[17]

Bottom left: Following administration of dexmedetomidine, the cognitive function (adapted cognitive examination: ACE) increases more in patients with a worse initial condition, that is, lower baseline ACE, compared to propofol sedation (not shown). *Bottom right*: Changes in cognitive examination during propofol (ordinate) vs. dexmedetomidine (abscissae) from relative baseline in each of the 30 patients completing the study (black dot: brain injury; open dot: no brain injury). Note the few cognitive deteriorations following dexmedetomidine and few cognitive improvements following propofol sedation. Dexmedetomidine improves cognition more than propofol (p < 0.001). Modified from Mirski, *Intens Care Med*, 2010, 36, 1505–13.[75] Working memory is improved when an alpha-2 agonist, guanfacine is administered following mild traumatic brain injury.[227]

asthma (increased peak expiratory flow rate and forced expiratory volume) [85]⁶.

- Decreased sensitivity to hypercapnia [88], as observed during slow-wave sleep, and improved tolerance to permissive hypercapnia [81, 89]⁷.
- Decreased VO₂ under heightened [91, 92] and baseline [93] conditions and decreased baseline temperature [88] leading to lowered temperature in the CCU [94], thus improving fever control [90].
- 6) Reduced intrapulmonary shunting [95, 96].
- Reduced pulmonary hypertension [97-99] evoked by attenuated sympathetic hyperactivity [100].
- Decreased sinus node activity (bradycardia), slowed atrio-ventricular conduction (increased P-R interval [101]), and a reduced incidence of ventricular arrhythmias following cardiac surgery [102].
- In the setting of congestive heart failure: increased left ventricular (LV) diastolic [103] and systolic [104-107] performance [104-107]; experimentally: reduced arterial stiffness [108] and LV impedance [109].
- 10) Improved coronary circulation [110] in the setting of myocardial infarction [111] or coronary surgery [112].
- 11) Reduced cardiac filling pressure [104, 105] with effects depending on the state of the patient (improvement of

cardiogenic pulmonary oedema [113] vs. aggravated hypotension when hypovolemia is present (part II, insert II).

- 12) Vasodilation of skin vessels with increased toe temperature [49]; reduced vasopressor requirements in the setting of sepsis [25] and septic shock [38, 40, 114]. Presumably, from a circulatory point of view, by normalizing sympathetic hyperactivity, alpha-2 agonists re-couple the ventricle, the arterial circulation and the microcirculation.
- 13) Increased diuresis in the setting of ascites,[115–117] cardiac failure[107] and critical care.[118]
- 14) Improved renal function.[119,120]
- 15) Reduced intra-abdominal pressure;[121] improved gastrointestinal motility.[122]
- 16) Improved glucose control and reduced insulin requirements in type 2 diabetic patients undergoing surgery,[123] at variance with increased glycemia in healthy resting volunteers.
- 17) Decreased procalcitonin[39] and pro-inflammatory interleukin-6[124–126] and increased antiinflammatory interleukin-10.[125,127]

In summary, alpha-2 agonists are associated with: a) sedation without cognitive impairment[75] (Figure 2); b) increased parasympathetic activity and decreased sympathetic activity. This occurs in contrast to the reduced parasympathetic activity and increased sympathetic activity generated by surgical or medical illness; and c) the absence of respiratory depression with possibly improved obstructive expiratory disease.[31–33,85] Despite such favourable pharmacodynamics, given the

⁶ Relevant in the setting of early ARDS (an intrinsic PEEP as high as 7 cm H20 is observed[86]) or severe bronchospasm/status asthmaticus.[87,33,32]

⁷ Allowing one to set up a reduced tidal volume in the setting of acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS) in conjunction with fever control.[90]

arterial hypotension, bradycardia or conduction block associated with the administration of alpha-2 agonists, alpha-2 agonists cannot be prescribed to all CCU patients. *Our view contrasts with the indications proposed by the US and European regulatory agencies*. We contend that only *personalized* prescriptions can be administered after: a) a full work-up (history, physical examination, electrocardiogram, echocardiography, CT scan, etc., if appropriate); and b) consideration of the benefits and risks for *each* patient. Cautious niche prescriptions do not preclude prescriptions to most CCU patients, but we oppose generalized routine prescriptions ('one size fits all').

F) Outcomes

First, under conventional sedation, when a nurse is in charge of the moment-to-moment adaptation of sedation, the incidence of ventilation-associated pneumonia and the duration of mechanical ventilation are significantly reduced.[128] However, CCU or hospital mortality is reduced non-significantly.[128] Whether a similar benefit occurs with alpha-2 agonists is unknown. Second, whether attenuated sympathetic hyperactivity allows for recovery from the initial insult, minimizes CCU-acquired disease and improves outcome requires stronger evidence than available.[23–28,68]

II) Consequences of alpha-2 agonist use in the CCU: concerted nurse-physician changes

Since the patient is not any further under general anaesthesia, the objectives for a motionless CCU patient are to minimize pain, anxiety and autonomic hyperactivity, early transition from controlled to spontaneous ventilation, and facilitate full patient cooperation. This *Copernican* revolution in the CCU requires a *concerted* effort among nurses, physiotherapists and physicians. In contrast to previous practices,[1] this strategy requires changes with respect to the following:

- Iterative evaluations of sedation (Ramsay scale, Richmond Agitation and Sedation Scale [RASS]), pain (Behavioural Pain Scale [BPS],[129] Visual Analogue Scale) and delirium (CAM-ICU)[130]; and
- Adaptation of nurses, physiotherapists and physicians to continuous cooperative sedation in an alert, spontaneously breathing patient, with active maintenance of day-night cycle, patient reassurance and orientation, and early physiotherapy.

III) Recommended doses

A) Recommended doses, titration to effect and changing requirements

The 'recommended' dose for clonidine is $0.2-2 \ \mu g.kg.h-1$. [131] The recommended dose for dexmedetomidine is $0.4-1 \ \mu g.kg.h-1$ [16] to $1.5 \ \mu g.kg.h-1$.[12] A 'ceiling' effect occurs with dexmedetomidine doses greater than 1.5 μ g.kg.h-1.[12] Lowdose alpha-2 agonists include clonidine 0.1–0.4 μ g.kg.h-1 and dexmedetomidine: 0.1–0.4 μ g.kg.h-1. High-dose alpha-2 agonists (clonidine: 2 μ g.kg.h-1, dexmedetomidine: 1.5 μ g.kg.h-1) considered here should be differentiated from very high doses of alpha-2 agonists (e.g., clonidine 4 mg. kg-1.h-1), which increase blood pressure, as discussed in the legend of Figure 3.

[A 'sympathico-meter' (Ghignone, personal communication) is elusive: plasma catecholamines, sympathetic



Figure 3: Effect of increasing clonidine plasma concentrations on systemic blood pressure. The lowest blood pressure is observed when the plasma clonidine concentration is 0.65±0.07 ng.mL-1. The effective pressor concentration is observed when the concentration is: 1.28±0.16 ng. mL-1. Modified from Frisk-Holmberg.[211] Therapeutic plasma concentrations for dexmedetomidine are 0.4-1.2 ng.mL-1.[228]

Usual doses of clonidine 300 μ g p.o. as administered in the cardiology setting achieve within 1–3 h (48) a large decrease in systemic pressure (clonidine concentration = 0.9–1.4 ng.mL-1). In contrast, very high-dose alpha-2 agonists (clonidine p.o. \approx 5400–6000 μ g/day: plasma concentration = 14–26 ng.mL-1; dexmedetomidine i.v. = 4 μ g.kg-1.h-1 for 12 h) evoke hypertension.[210,212] Accordingly, in healthy volunteers, high-dose dexmedetomidine (plasma concentration \approx 5 ng.mL-1) evokes high BP, lowered ejection fraction and cardiac output.[228]

The use of alpha-2 agonists as a bolus or as a loading dose is unwise, especially in unstable CCU patients. Three *different* effects are to be considered.

a) A bolus of an alpha-1 agonist (vasopressor : noradrenaline, phenylephrine, etc.) leads to a brisk, short lasting pressure increase[222] via alpha-1 peripheral vascular receptors; the pressure increase stimulates the cardiac parasympathetic system within < 1-2 s[229,230] and generates swift, active bradycardia. This bradycardia is usually not observed in the

critical care setting since the cardiac parasympathetic system is wiped out, owing to illness and/or age.

b) A *bolus* dose of alpha-2 agonist (dexmedetomidine, clonidine) generates, first, an increase in pressure via activation of peripheral vascular alpha-1 receptors and, second, bradycardia evoked via activation of the cardiac parasympathetic baroreflex (fast active bradycardia), as with any vasopressor. The bradycardia evoked by a pressure increase evoked by a bolus of alpha-2 agonists is exaggerated when parasympathomimetic drugs,[196] opioids[197] or other anti-arrhythmics are present: diltiazem, verapamil, beta blockers and so on.

c) After waning of the pressure increase evoked by a *bolus* of alpha-2 agonist, a centrally-mediated hypotension occurs once a steady state alpha-2 agonist concentration is achieved (low-dose clonidine concentration). A steady state alpha-2 agonist concentration acts via alpha-2 receptors located in the brain stem and spinal cord, generating a slowly occurring, passive, vascular vasodilation and a slowly occurring, passive, bradycardia.

microneurography or heart rate variability indices⁸[132] are not yet available online and have not been properly validated in the CCU setting. Therefore, *the dose should be titrated to achieve the required effect* (measured sympathetic or parasympathetic activity or behaviour/sedation, i.e., sedation vs. circulation vs. ventilation vs. inflammation) and adjusted at least daily, rather than administering a 'recommended' dose.]

1) Sedation

Light sedation: Most groups use dexmedetomidine 0.7 μ g.kg-1.h-1 to achieve calmness or light sedation (-2 < RASS < 0),[74] for example, adaptation to NIV,[29] or in a thoroughly stabilized patient. The use of dexmedetomidine is relevant *immediately* after stabilizing the acute cardio-ventilatory distress observed upon admission.

[In contrast, *heavy sedation* can be achieved by high-dose alpha-2 agonists (clonidine 2 μ g.kg-1.h-1 or dexmedetomidine 1.5 μ g.kg-1.h-1) as a single agent. High dose alpha-2 agonists will be combined with neuroleptics in the setting of refractory DT (-3 < RASS < -2 for 3–6 h; part II, I, E).[15,17] : alpha-2 agonists, by themselves, are also or combined to neuroleptics, are also applicable in the setting of acute cardio-ventilatory

distress upon admission to the CCU[21,81,89,90,135–137] when neuromuscular blockers for a *short* period suppress the work of breathing, and in the presence of ventilator-to-patient dys-synchrony [3–12 h: note 14].

In the setting of moderate/severe ARDS evoked by the SARS-CoV2, they can be safely used, with or without neuroleptics: a) with intubation, fever control, optimisation of the acidosis/ cardiac output/microcirculation/acidosis, low pressure support-high PEEP and upright position,[138] b) with high oxygen flow in the setting of non-invasive ventilation, with impressive results (Longrois, unpublished data), following previous reports[29–33,89]

2) Circulation

[Hyperdynamic state (hypertension, tachycardia) without hypovolemia or shock: Dexmedetomidine 1.5 μ g.kg-1.h-1 or clonidine 2 μ g.kg-1.h-1 is used for as long as necessary. In *rare* instances of refractory hypertension and tachycardia in young patients in the CCU, high-dose alpha-2 agonists should be used first. Then beta-blockers should achieve 50 < HR < 60. Then angiotensin antagonists should be preferred to calcium antagonists or peripherally acting agents to lower BP, to avoid reflex tachycardia.

Shock state

- i) Systemic circulation (decreased aortic impedance, improved diastolic compliance, reduced sinus or supraventricular tachycardia): Doses as high as dexmedetomidine 1.5 µg.kg-1.h-1 or clonidine 2 µg.kg-1.h-1 can be used only if doses are incremented and volemia is adjusted (*'start slow* and go slow': part I, III, F). Presumably, much lower doses normalize tachycardia (part I, III, C).
- ii) Improved microcirculation and tissue acidosis: In the setting of septic shock, after normalization of cardiac output and systemic pH, the issue is restoring microcirculation.
 [139,140] One of the only tools available is normalizing sympathetic hyperactivity back to baseline. Presumably, lower doses of alpha-2 agonists are necessary to suppress peripheral shutdown and mottling, normalize capillary refill time and lower vasopressor requirements.[38–40,141]
- iii) Decreased inflammation[39,124,126,127]: Dose-range studies should delineate the dose range as a function of the amplitude of the inflammatory response.]

The dosage used as a rule of thumb in the setting of circulatory instability (e.g., dexmedetomidine 0.7 μ g.kg-1.h-1[40] or clonidine 1 μ g.kg-1.h-1[38]) is tentative. First, the dosage is a function of maintained[40] stroke volume. Second, the dosage must be documented in a dose-response manner with respect to the pathology and its severity and the considered target: sedation vs. systemic circulation vs. microcirculation vs. inflammation.

B) Clinical reasoning for the use of low- vs. high-dose alpha-2 agonists

⁸ Parasympathetic indices (pNN50; Poincaré plot: SD1 vs. SD2; low-frequency/high-frequency ratio,etc.). In the present manuscript, normalization of sympathetic hyperactivity toward pre-disease baseline activity is emphasized. However, cardiac parasympathetic activity predicted performance in long-distance and ultra-long-distance runners[134,57] and is absent in brain-dead patients. At variance with the present emphasis on the sympathetic system, parasympathetic future research should consider recovery of cardiac parasympathetic activity in CCU patients, for example, following improved conditions and/or administration of alpha-2 agonists.

Rationale for high-dose alpha-2 agonists combined with other sedatives

GABA enhances tonic inhibition in the amygdala. Alcoholism can be related to lowered GABA clearance. GABA-B receptor agonists (baclofen, sodium oxybate) might lower GABA extracellular concentrations, presumably alleviating alcoholism.[142] In the setting of refractory DT, two issues require consideration:

- a) Psychiatrists observed early that there is no fixed dose of neuroleptics to alleviate refractory DT. Indeed, the dose is the dose necessary to stop agitation and tremor completely, unless exhaustion and death would occur (Quintin, unpublished data); and
- b) A combination⁹ of drugs acting via different receptors (alpha-2, dopamine, GABA, and glutamate) can help to manage refractory DT.[143] Indeed, refractory DT might be the consequence of excessive central noradrenergic, glutamatergic and hyperactivity. Conversely, reduced cholinergic activity or desensitized GABA receptors might be involved. Alpha-2 agonists are supplemented with neuroleptics if necessary (part II, I). In turn, neuroleptics are supplemented with GABA agonists: low-dose benzodiazepines and/or low-dose baclofen.[144] The objectives are light sedation rendering a rousable patient (-2 < RASS < 0), the absence of muscular tremors, good urine output and minimized side effects (no respiratory depression, long QT, hypotension or bradycardia). As suggested for benzodiazepines when managing alcohol withdrawal syndrome,[143] adequate doses of alpha-2 agonists should be used to maintain light somnolence (-2 < RASS < 0) for the duration of delirium. Accordingly, the alpha-2 agonist dose is matched with the desired degree of circulatory effects (tachycardia vs. hypertension vs. microcirculation, etc.) or sedation. Therefore, in contrast to French guidelines[131] and considering this titration to effect, we increased the doses.
 - i) Clonidine up to 4 µg.kg.h-1 in some elderly patients to achieve calmness, which caused no side effects. Young, combative, patients suffering from poly-addiction (alcohol, cannabis, tobacco, cocaine) seem more responsive to alpha-2 agonists than elderly patients¹⁰ (Simonet, de Kock, Pichot, Quintin, unpublished observations).

ii) Clonidine up to 4 μ g.kg.h-1 combined to loxapine 400 mg*4 times per day in refractory DT patients presenting with a Gayet-Wernicke syndrome (Pichot-Quintin, unpublished data). Doses as high as clonidine 2700 μ g (up to $\approx 38 \ \mu$ g.kg-1 administered over $\approx 30 \ min$) normalize heightened VO₂ in the setting of weaning from the ventilator and alcohol withdrawal (Figure 2 in [92]). Accordingly, clonidine p.o. up to 3600 μ g was used in the setting of ambulatory hypertension.[147] In a medical CCU setting, dexmedetomidine up to 2.5 μ g.kg.h-1 was used with minimal side-effects.[12]

C) Adaptation of dose of alpha-2 agonists over time

1) Changing requirements over time

The dosage of alpha-2 agonists is not steady throughout the CCU stay for one patient. The dose requirement is very high during early refractory DT to abate agitation and tremors at once for a brief interval (\approx 3–6 h). Nevertheless, drug requirements subside over time.[143] [In the medical CCU setting, we observed a two-phase response¹¹: first, adequate sedation with normalized tachycardia was observed within a few hours. After 24–72 h, bradycardia (40–60 beats per min

- b) agitation vs. sedation;
- c) temperature[90];
- d) cardiac baroreflex-mediated mechanisms, which are managed with adequate volemia and increased blood pressure using vasopressors, when necessary;
- e) metabo-reflex[148] mediated mechanisms (the metabolic reflex originating in skeletal muscle is 'activated when blood flow to contracting muscles is insufficient to allow both O2 delivery and metabolite washout'; optimized micro-circulation with an alpha-2 agonist could possibly lead to improved tissue acidosis and hypoxemia, presumably reducing tachycardia); and
- f) inflammation, which generates tachycardia that is unblocked by a beta-blocker.[149]

Thus, *tachycardia is partially independent of the sympathetic system*. The clinically unproven implication is that the overall state-of-theart treatment normalizes inflammation and suppresses tachycardia over a few days. Thus, a high-dose alpha-2 agonist, which controls sympathetically mediated tachycardia, is necessary early to manage inflammation and sympathetic hyperactivity. Subsequently, the highdose alpha-2 agonist can become detrimental, leading to bradycardia and low cardiac output. Therefore, the doses of alpha-2 agonists must be reduced over time as a function of normalized inflammation. with obvious clinical improvement, e.g. 24-96 h after the beginning of the administration of alpha-2 agonists. Again, the dose of an alpha-2 agonist is titrated to achieve the desired effect.

⁹ Polypharmacopeia (alpha-2 agonists, neuroleptics, benzodiazepines, melatonin/hydroxyzine, etc.) can cause deleterious interactions. Thus, polypharmacopeia is used for the shortest time possible.

¹⁰ Elderly humans present with reduced cardiac parasympathetic activity. Alpha-2 agonists increase cardiac parasympathetic activity[145]: any relationship between reduced sedative effects of alpha-2 agonists and reduced central cholinergic or baseline cardiac parasympathetic activity is unknown. Conversely, a) Balinese massage the carotid sinus to induce sleep,[146] b) carotid sinus nerves stimulation tend to make the patient fall asleep (J Karemaker, personal communication).

¹¹ CCU tachycardia is a function of *different* factors:

a) pain;

[bpm]) can occur with possibly an enlarged arteriovenous difference (decreased superior vena cava S_{02}), requiring a reduction of the dose of the alpha-2 agonist to achieve an HR \approx 60–70 bpm or adequate SsvcO₂. If the dose of alpha-2 agonist is decreased, then supplementation with neuroleptics might be needed or the dose of neuroleptics increased for a brief period to maintain -2 < RASS < 0, for example, in the setting of refractory DT.]

2) Changing sedative efficacy

In the ambulatory setting, a reduced sedative effect is observed after 2–4 weeks of administration of alpha-2 agonists. [147,150] In the CCU, this reduced sedative effect is observed after a few days (Quintin, unpublished data). The reasons are unclear. They might include improved cerebral perfusion, reduced septic confusion or tachyphylaxis in relation to the sedative effect, warranting a higher dose of alpha-2 agonist or supplementary drugs if required. Therefore, iterative, daily reassessments are necessary.

3) Changing the required effect from the physician perspective

When addressing the acute cardio-ventilatory distress observed upon arrival to the CCU, stabilization of the acute cardioventilatory distress is a priority ('salvage therapy', 'resuscitation'). [The sedation requirement is minimal during cardio-ventilatory stabilization. The patient is often unconscious during the acute period (low cerebral perfusion in the setting of hypovolemia; confusion secondary to sepsis). In contrast, as a patient improves, the alpha-2 agonist requirement increases (Quintin, unpublished data). The patient's comfort is prioritized after the completion of salvage therapy. Titration is performed to the required effect (cognition vs. circulation vs. ventilation vs. inflammation), with the requirement changing over time accordingly.]

D) Interactions with other CCU sedatives

[Since alpha-2 agonists evoke analgesia[76] and analgognosia,[10] pain in a conscious, alert patient without respiratory depression is treated with nonopioid analgesics as first-line agents (opioid-free analgo-sedation) as in the setting of opioid-free anaesthesia. 'Rescue' opiates[151] are prescribed only as a second-line option (part II, tables 1 and 2).]

If neuroleptics are necessary to supplement alpha-2 agonists, *torsades de pointe* can occur. Thus, the QT interval must be monitored. However, the rare occurrence of QT syndrome should be balanced with the mortality observed in the setting of alcohol withdrawal (part II, I; no delirium: 0–15%; delirium: 34%[152]).

1) Rescue sedation

a) Facilitation of nursing

a patient under light sedation throughout most of his stay (-2 < RASS < 0) and to implement deeper sedation for a few minutes to facilitate nursing procedures.

b) Rescue sedation upon or before initiation of alpha-2 agonist administration

When switching from conventional sedation to cooperative sedation, the possibility is either:

- i) a slow, even, transition, for example, when an elderly patient has received high-dose midazolam and sufentanil for days or weeks¹²; or
- ii) emergence and agitation, as observed in combative patients as soon as conventional sedation is withdrawn. Such a patient will be likely poorly sedated and agitated as long as steady cooperative sedation has not yet been achieved. Thus, rescue sedation[74] allows one to transition from conventional sedation to dexmedetomidine: midazolam 0.01-0.05 mg.kg-1 (1-3.5 mg/70 kg) is administered at 10 to 15-min intervals to achieve -2 ≤ RASS ≤ -1.[74] [In our group, midazolam boluses of 3–5 mg are repeated every 3–5 min up to -2 ≤ RASS ≤ -1 until steady cooperative sedation is achieved (≈ 60 and 180 min for dexmedetomidine 1.5 µg.kg.h-1 or clonidine 2 µg.kg-1.h-1, respectively). Under extreme circumstances (e.g., DT with refractory agitation), neuroleptics are administered before transitioning from conventional to cooperative sedation (haloperidol 2.5-10-mg bolus or loxapine 100 mg through a nasogastric [n/g] tube). Then, conventional sedation is withdrawn, and cooperative sedation is administered.]

Progressively withdrawing conventional sedation while gradually introducing an alpha-2 agonist[16] leads to severe bradycardia/hypotension (summation of sympatholysis), in our hands. This occurs often at night if the night shift personnel has not been taught about using rescue sedation rather than propofol boluses or infusions. There is no rationale for running conventional sedation in addition to alpha-2 agonist administration, or the reverse, but a recipe for circulatory catastrophes. In addition, running conventional sedation in addition to cooperative sedation suppresses any possible benefit of cooperative sedation.[153] The use of a propofol bolus (mini-dose: 20 mg)[16] or propofol infusion, in addition to alpha-2 agonist administration during the night presumably reflect the practice of an experienced intensivist working with experienced critical care nurses.[16] In our hands, this practice increases the risk of unexpected severe arterial hypotension and bradycardia at night. Then, the alpha-2

Handling patients -4 < RASS < -3 vs. patients -2 < RASS < 0 requires a *Copernican* revolution in the CCU (part I, II). Accordingly, the use of rescue sedation[74] allows to keep

¹² An infusion of midazolam 5 mg.h-1 totals circa 120 mg over 24 h, usually for several days. This dosage is a massive overdose for an elderly, frail patient, leading to delayed emergence.

Table 1: Delirium Tremens (DT)

Positive diagnosis	History of chronic alcohol intoxication and alcohol withdrawal, inability to sustain attention, disorganized thinking, hallucinations, agitation, fine tremor.
Differential diagnosis	Confusion due to sepsis (beware of occurrence of sepsis or septic shock immediately after resolution of DT or simultaneous to DT), metabolic abnormalities, physical/neurological examination.
Overall assessment	Circulation: iterative response to passive leg raising (PLR) if arterial line in place: normalize volemia before administration of alpha-2 agonists
	Ventilation: ,focal' pneumonia?
	Kidney, liver, pancreas, metabolism
	Consider BIS or equivalent when benzodiazepine or propofol infusion are used.
Supportive treatment	Ventilation: O2 supplementation
	Hydration: consider hyperthermia and agitation to evoke adequate diuresis (> 1 mL.kg.d-1, i.e., > 1700 mL/70 kg/24 h)
	Vitamins (B1, B6), nicotine patch(s), eu-glycemia, trace elements, phosphorus, magnesium, calcium supplementation, anti- infectious therapy, if appropriate
	Prophylaxis of thrombosis and gastro-intestinal hemorrhage
	Daily monitoring of K+, Mg++, Phosphorus, Calcium
Sedation	Goal: quiet patient (-1 < RASS < 0): no brisk movements, hallucinations and fine tremor controlled > 24 h
	1) Discontinue benzodiazepine, opioid analgesics and so on immediately upon admission. According to our clinical experience, use benzodiazepines or opioid analgesics only as ,rescue' sedation or ,rescue' analgesia.
	2) Continue neuroleptics to avoid bout of abrupt agitation upon benzodiazepine/opiates cessation then suppress neuroleptics to make treatment as simple as possible. Would breakthrough occurs, consider haloperidol 5-10 mg i.v. as a "stat" prescription.
	NB: monitor QT when administering any neuroleptics
	Only when alpha-2 agonists are NOT sufficient to evoke -1 < RASS < 0, supplementation with second-line drugs, consider:
	Use preferably haloperidol when hallucinations are the primary symptom, phenothiazines or oxazepines when agitation is the primary symptom.
	a) Loxapine: start using 100 mg orally or through nasogastric tube every 6 h then de-escalate as early as possible down to, for example, 25 mg*4: the goal is -1 < RASS < 0.
	b) Haloperidol 5 mg every 6 h (20 mg/day) or preferably continuous infusion: 50 mg/48 ml/ 0.5–1 ml.h-1 (i.e., start with circa 12–24 mg/day) adjusted to -1 < RASS < 0
	NB: maximal recommended dose for haloperidol : \approx 30 mg.day-1 (Carrasco, 2016).
	3) Alpha-2 agonists: contra-indication: sick sinus, A-V block II-III, hypovolemia
	Non-intubated patient with some cooperation : clonidine p.o. $6-8 \ \mu$ g.kg-1 (3–4 pills/vials in Europe; beware of various dosages: 1 pill/vial=150 μ g in Europe; 1 pill = 100 or 200 or 300 μ g in the US) every 4 to 6 h to be administered orally up to 2–3 μ g.kg.h-1 for 48–96 h (no tremor > 24 h).
	Suppression of agitation following administration of oral clonidine occurs usually within 30–120 min. This should not imply discharging the patient within 24 h from intermediate care unit: the patient should remain in the intermediate care unit and administered with alpha-2 agonists for 48–96 h (absence of tremor > 24 h) to avoid a second bout of DT after being discharged from the intermediate care unit back to the ward.
	Intubated-mechanically ventilated patient: dexmedetomidine 1.5 μ g.kg.h-1 or clonidine 2 μ g.kg.h-1 (beware of dosages: Europe: 1 vial =1 mL = 150 μ g.mL-1; US epidural clonidine: 100 or 500 μ g.mL-1) for 48–96 h adjusted to -2 < RASS < 0; no loading dose: use rescue midazolam (3–5 mg to be repeated) during the interval necessary for alpha-2 agonists to induce ,cooperative' sedation (30–60 min for dexmedetomidine; 3–6 h for i.v. clonidine).
	Insert a sticker ,DO NOT BOLUS' on the i.v. line (Shehabi 2010).
	Surprisingly, some elderly patients require higher doses of alpha-2 agonists to achieve quietness; by contrast, most young patients, including those on cannabis, heroin, cocaine and so on appear quite sensitive to alpha-2 agonist induced sedation.
Night sedation	Preservation of day-night cycle:
	Hydroxyzine 2 mg.kg-1 (≈ 150 mg/70 kg i.v. or p.o.) or melatonin 1–2 mg will evoke sleep (RASS <- 2), early during the night (administration: 9 pm). Propofol infusion is risky (severe hypotension and/or bradycardia, hypoventilation) when alpha-2 agonists are administered.
	NB: beware of acute urinary retention following hydroxyzine in patients without Folley catheter.
Refractory delirium tremens	See table 2.
Rescue sedation	NB: if sedation is not sufficient with the alpha-2 agonist, do not EVER administer a bolus of alpha-2 agonist: use ,rescue' sedation to be repeated if necessary and increase the administration of i.v. continuous dexmedetomidine up to ,ceiling' effect (1.5 µg.kg-1.h-1). consider haloperidol bolus if breakthrough occurs.

	To avoid making a complex situation more complex, conventional sedation is to be discontinued abruptly. In intubated mechanically ventilated patients, as i.v. dexmedetomidine or clonidine-induced sedation after \approx 60 to 180 min respectively, rescue' sedation (midazolam bolus 3–5 mg titrated to effect) is to be administered repeatedly as required until the alpha-2 agonist evokes quietness to -1 < RASS < 0, combined with a neuroleptics, if needed.
	Before nursing, in intubated mechanically ventilated patients, if needed, consider midazolam bolus 3-5 mg titrated to effect.
	Simple but repeated information of the patient regarding his disease and his care is important to minimize emergence delirium.
Tapering sedation	Following control of DT (no hallucinations nor tremor for > 24 h), neuroleptics are tapered. Then alpha-2 agonists are tapered progressively over several days to avoid the rare occurrence of alpha-2 agonist withdrawal.
Extubation	Alpha-2 agonists do not suppress airway reflexes: a) assess ventilation and overall clinical status (circulation, infection, inflam- mation, etc.); b) taper neuroleptics first; c) reduce administration of alpha-2 agonists to -1 < RASS < 0, then extubation of the trachea, under alpha-2 agonists.
	Following extubation, if needed, continued non-invasive ventilation under continued alpha-2 agonists as indicated by ventilatory status.
Discharge from CCU	Refrain from discharging the patient early to the ward (hallucinations or tremor should be suppressed for > 24 h): unfortunately, alpha-2 agonists are usually withdrawn on the ward with re-introduction of benzodiazepines leading often for re-admission to CCU and re-intubation.

Table 1: (Continued)

agonist is blamed, leading to a switch back to conventional sedation, CMV, NMBs, and high-dose vasopressors.]

c) Night sedation

The depth of sedation in septic patients may be varied during the day-night cycle (day time: -1 < RASS < 0; night time: -2 < RASS < 0).[27] In the CCU setting, increased sedation at night (-2 < RASS < -1; medium-dose dexmedetomidine: 0.4-0.7 µg.kg.h-1 or low-dose dexmedetomidine: 0.1 µg.kg.h-1) reduces the fragmentation of sleep and increases sleep stage 2 (N2) without affecting REM sleep.[71,154] In healthy volunteers, low-dose clonidine (25 µg) increases the REM sleep duration.[69] By contrast, medium-dose clonidine (150 µg) lowers the REM sleep duration and increases the slow-wave sleep duration.[69] [In our experience, once steady cooperative sedation has been achieved with an alpha-2 agonist alone or in combination with neuroleptics, our prescription regimen maintains the alpha-2 agonist at a steady dose. To deepen night sedation, if necessary, administration of melatonin provides good clinical results (administration ~ 8-9 pm considering its delayed effect; 2 mg orally or through an n/g tube). However, the results are equivocal.[155,156]

Alternatively, hydroxyzine 100–150 mg administered i.v. over 10 min or orally through an n/g tube achieves early awakening the next day without delayed somnolence.

A combination of these drugs at lower doses may also be used.]

d) Monitoring

To avoid oversedation, electroencephalographic monitoring (BIS or equivalent) is advocated when deep sedation is required (NMB use, status epilepticus, etc.).[5] To our knowledge, BIS monitoring under cooperative sedation has been rarely reported. A sedation scale 'to effect' verified iteratively should be preferred to a tentative 60 < BIS < 95 throughout a patient's stay[157] as the issue is not the displayed BIS value but the actual sedative effect.

E) Bronchospasm and circulatory instability

[1) Bronchospasm[31–33,87]:

When, severe, prolonged bronchospasm or status asthmaticus are considered, despite optimal management, a low-dose alpha-2 agonist (inhaled[85] or intravenous clonidine 4–9 µg.kg-1 over 2–4 h[31] or dexmedetomidine 0.2-0.7 mg.kg-1.h-1[32,33] suppresses expiratory obstruction (wheezing, forced expiration, ventilatory discomfort) and agitation within ≈ 60–120 min. However, when presented with aversive psychological stimuli, relatives and so on, some patients require a high-dose alpha-2 agonist (clonidine 2 µg.kg.h-1, dexmedetomidine 1.5 µg.kg.h-1) titrated to effect (quietness and the absence of wheezing even when an aversive stimulus is presented), as in refractory DT. Failure to achieve quietness and suppressed wheezing warrants intubation, sedation and conventional mechanical ventilation before ventilatory fatigue.

2) Circulatory instability

Addressing the indication and dose of alpha-2 agonists in the setting of elderly patients, co-morbidities, shock and peripheral shut-down (mottling) is complex. Our practice is threefold:

- a) Iterative individualized volume loading, based on iterative passive leg raising (PLR; Figure 6) and echocardiography. [158]
- b) Restoration of systemic pressure with vasopressors when diastolic pressure is low.[159] In this respect, alpha-2 agonists *lower* the dose of vasopressor required in the setting of sepsis[25,160,161] or septic shock,[38–40] in a dose dependant manner,[162] within ≈ 3 h of administration (Pichot, unpublished data).[38,39]

- c) Restoration of the microcirculation[139] in the setting of peripheral shut-down, increased lactate, etc.13 Few pharmacological tools address peripheral shutdown[114,165]: alpha-2 agonists increase lactate clearance,[166] lower systemic lactate[167,168]), temperature[88] and VO2,[91] improve capillary refill time and kidney function.[119,120]
- F) Speed of administration

1) De novo administration in a circulatory-stable patient

Before administering an alpha-2 agonist, physical examination, benefits/risks, bradycardia, sick sinus syndrome, A-V block, and hypovolemia should be assessed. [In the setting of alcohol withdrawal/agitation, *without* hypovolemia, an alpha-2 agonist is administered at a fixed dose (e.g., dexmedetomidine 1.5 μ g.kg-1.h-1 or clonidine 2 μ g.kg-1.h-1) to achieve quick sedation. Rescue sedation is administered to RASS \leq 0, if needed (part I, III, D).]

2) *De novo* administration of alpha-2 agonist in the setting of hypovolemia

CCU patients are often hypovolemic. Hypovolemia becomes apparent emerges when sedation (conventional or cooperative) is administered (part II, insert II) and controlled mandatory ventilation is initiated with positive end-expiratory pressure (PEEP). Therefore,

- a) Pre-emptive volume loading is wise when CMV is anticipated.[169]
- b) Volemia should be assessed and corrected appropriately[158] before initiating the administration of an alpha-2 agonist (e.g., iterative PLR[170] [Figure 6]; transthoracic echocardiography [TTE]: ventilation-induced changes in the inferior vena cava[171]; transoesophageal echocardiography [TEE]: collapsibility of the superior vena cava[172]). Capillary refill, diuresis, the CO₂ gap, the lactate concentration, and the arterio-venous difference should be monitored before any further increase in the speed of administration of the alpha-2 agonist up to the required effect (sedation vs. circulation vs. ventilation vs. inflammation).
- c) 'Start low and go slow'¹⁴: Greater hypovolemia warrants a lower speed of administration, for example,

dexmedetomidine 0.125 µg.kg-1.h-1 for 2-3 h, followed by TTE+PLR reassessment and then 0.25 µg.kg-1.h-1 for 2-3 h, followed by TTE+PLR, and so on, up to the effect or to 1.5 µg.kg-1.h-115 (part I, III, B,: here, the goal is improved microcirculation or reduced vasopressor requirement not sedation: set -2 < RASS < 0). An interval of 6-12 h from admission to achieve administration of the full dose of an alpha-2 agonist and steady cooperative sedation is acceptable since the patient will be staying in the CCU for days. Rescue sedation should be immediately available (part I, IV). Sympatholysis evoked by the alpha-2 agonist progressively increases the venous capacitance before leading to brisk arterial hypotension (part II, insert II). In addition: a) diaphragmatic paralysis suppresses the inspiratory squeezing of the blood expelled from the hepato-splanchnic sphere into the thorax[174]; and b) intrathoracic pressure increases secondary to positive pressure ventilation. Then, circulatory failure occurs because of vena cava collapse (part II, insert II). Thus, assessing volemia is important before and early during administration. Compression stockings or anti-shock trousers are to be considered.]

3) *De novo* administration of an alpha-2 agonist in the presence of vasopressor

Vasopressors squeeze the venous capacitance.[175] In contrast, alpha-2 agonists inhibit the vasomotor sympathetic activity targeted to the veins. Therefore, iterative assessments of venous return and replenishment of the venous capacitance will avoid: a) lowering venous return any further *before* each incremental increase in an alpha-2 agonist (part I, III, F); and b) arterial dilation.

4) Switch from conventional to cooperative sedation

When conventional sedation is used prior to an alpha-2 agonist, the benefits/risks should be assessed, as above. [Withdrawal of conventional sedation is performed *at once* (part I, III, D), and an alpha-2 agonist infusion is initiated. A high dose (dexmedetomidine: 1.5 μ g.kg-1.h-1; clonidine: 2 μ g.kg-1.h-1; part I, III) will be selected as a function of the desired effect, for example, quick implementation of sedation in refractory

¹³ Patients with a low temperature in the setting of sepsis present higher mortality[163,164]: they are either unable to generate 'core' heat or to transfer 'core' heat to the periphery. Peripheral shutdown could be a cause or consequence of this inability.

¹⁴ A 'start low and go slow' [173] approach introduces a beta blocker in the setting of very severe left ventricular failure, outside the CCU setting. Similarly, a 'start slow and go slow' approach summarizes, in our hands, the administration of an alpha-2 agonist when acute cardio-ventilatory distress is present, within the CCU setting.

¹⁵ Given the high bioavailability of oral clonidine, slow loading is also possible through an n/g tube, for example, clonidine 150 μ g crushed and administered through the nasogastric tube. Then, 2 h later, after PLR and ETT re-assessments, clonidine 300 μ g can be administered through the n/g tube iteratively until the desired effect is achieved, followed by i.v. administration of the required dose. This route of administration appears suitable in mechanically ventilated patients as a bridge (12–24 h) to i.v. administration; then, gastric accumulation occurs with possible bradycardia (Quintin, unpublished data).

DT. In contrast, a low-dose alpha-2 agonist will be selected (dexmedetomidine or clonidine: 0.125 or 0.25 µg.kg-1.h-1 for 3 h, followed by an increasing dose when shock or circulatory instability is present (part I, III, A).] Rescue sedation[74] is administered repeatedly if agitation occurs before achieving steady cooperative sedation (part I, III).

[When high-dose dexmedetomidine or clonidine does not achieve quietness (-2 < RASS < -0) within 3 and 6 h, respectively, neuroleptics should be added according to the primary symptom (hallucination: haloperidol vs. agitation: loxapine; Pichot, personal communication; part II, I, E). Benzodiazepines should not be used except for rescue sedation, anxiolysis and emergency treatment of seizures. Midazolam infusion set minimally (e.g., 0.5 mg.h-1) may be considered only if anterograde amnesia is a concern, for example, with a patient in the prone position under short-term neuromuscular blockade requiring deep sedation (RASS < -2) *after* documentation of hypnosis (40 < BIS < 60) and analgesia (BPS), under high-dose alpha-2 agonist supplemented first with neuroleptics).]

5) Switch to spontaneous breathing

The switch to spontaneous breathing should occur as soon as cardio-ventilatory distress has improved,[21,90,176] regardless of selecting conventional vs. cooperative sedation. Alpha-2 agonist administration following light TIVA: Most intensivists use alpha-2 agonists as second-line sedatives, that is, during recovery after switching from conventional sedation. Deep sedation (i.e., general anaesthesia) is required to manage severe acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), traumatic brain injury, septic shock[177] and status epilepticus: this unproven[178] belief has been challenged.[179,180] [When severe diffuse ARDS is managed under general anaesthesia, paralysis,[181] and prone positioning,[182] the patient is positioned with the head up[183] ("upright" position) and then switched to an alpha-2 agonist. Conventional sedation is withdrawn immediately up to steady cooperative sedation used alone (part I, III, D). Then, spontaneous breathing is resumed.]

[Alpha-2 agonist administration immediately following endotracheal intubation: In the setting of early severe diffuse ARDS, we do not use midazolam+sufentanil or propofol+remifentanil.[21,89,90] To reduce the duration of mechanical ventilation and intubation,[37,184] we administer an alpha-2 agonist *immediately* after intubation to achieve an -2 < RASS < 0. A neuroleptic is added to a RASS < -2, *if* needed. Ultra-short-term paralysis (3–12 h, 40 < BIS < 60) is used only to allow for normalizing all of the factors evoking a high respiratory drive in an itemized manner.[21]¹⁶ As soon as the acute cardio-ventilatory distress is controlled,[21,90,176] paralysis is withdrawn. Then, spontaneous breathing allows one to set a high PEEP with a low plateau pressure[21,81,89,135,136,185] to address early expiratory closure (ARDS with low VA/Q ratio, at variance with COVID 19-ARDS) and hypoxemia. The work of breathing is minimized with a low level of inspiratory assistance to compensate for the circuit, valves and endotracheal tube using pressure support or airway pressure release ventilation.]

6) Tapering of alpha-2 agonists

Clonidine[189] or dexmedetomidine withdrawal syndrome is rare. [To avoid alpha-2 agonist withdrawal syndrome, when a high-dose alpha-2 agonist has been administered for an extended period, a short-acting alpha-2 agonist is transitioned to a longer-acting alpha-2 agonist: intravenous dexmedetomidine ($t1/2\beta \approx 180$ min) is transitioned to oral clonidine, which is then discontinued over several days (clonidine: $t1/2\beta \approx 8--24$ h[48,190]; clonidine 0.2–0.5 mg every 6 h and then every 9 h, and so on, over 1–7 days; median: 2.4 days[191]). Similarly, i.v. clonidine is transitioned to oral clonidine or oral guanfacine (extended release Intuniv®, Estulic®, $t1/2\beta \approx 10-30$ h). Where available (e.g., the US), transdermal clonidine (Catapres-TTS® 7.0 or 10.5 cm²) can be considered as soon as capillary refill is normalized.]

7) Discharge to the ward

[If *progressive* tapering of an alpha-2 agonist is not guaranteed in the ward, then the patient should stay in the intermediate care unit. Premature discharge to the ward can lead to later readmission to the CCU. Accordingly, when DT is improving, the patient should remain in the intermediate care unit to assess positively the total disappearance of tremors and hallucinations for \ge 24 h.]

G) Side effects

The side effects of alpha-2 agonists[192] are a function of the: a) adequacy of venous return (part II, insert II); and b) adaptation of the cardiac and vasomotor limbs of the baroreflex (legend of Figure 1):

1) Circulation

Clonidine upregulates beta receptors in healthy supine volunteers.[193] Clonidine is used in the setting of severe idiopathic orthostatic hypotension because it increases blood

¹⁶ Briefly: fever control,[90] suppressed agitation,[21,89,135,136, 185,137] normalized systemic pH,[136] upright position,[183] a low

¹CO₂ gap',[186] normalized lactate, normalized superior vena cava O₂ saturation, minimal permissive hypercapnia[187] [as during physiological stage 2 sleep, a lowered sensitivity to CO₂ is observed following alpha-2 agonist administration[88]], a normalized metaboreflex (note 11),[148] normalized tissue pH and improved capillary refill, reduced inflammation, reduced lung water.[188]

pressure[194] by upregulating alpha-1 receptors.[141] When p.o. clonidine is administered to normotensive or hypertensive patients without idiopathic orthostatic hypotension, systemic hypotension (SBP < 100 mm Hg) is seldom observed. When systemic arterial hypotension occurs, the patient seems unaffected (adequate capillary refill, preserved urine output). Nevertheless, since mild hypotension is not tolerated in the ward, the patient should stay in the intermediate care unit.

[Adequate volemia and atrio-ventricular conduction should be achieved before infusion of alpha-2 agonists (part I, III, F). When a continuous i.v. infusion of alpha-2 agonists is used, hypotension+bradycardia is observed in 5–33% of patients. [12,195] Management of side effects includes:

- a) Avoiding boluses or a loading infusion (a sticker stating 'DO NOT BOLUS' is placed on the i.v. line infusing the alpha-2 agonist[16]);
- b) Increasing venous return (stockings/military anti-shock trousers, Trendelenburg position, volume loading) before the administration of alpha-2 agonist;
- c) Avoiding drugs that increase parasympathetic activity, leading to severe bradycardia and hypotension, for example, opioids[196,197];
- d) Avoiding drugs that suppress cardiac or vasomotor sympathetic activity, for example, beta-blockers and propofol; and
- e) Administration of micro-doses of norepinephrine (infusion: 0.01–0.05 μg.kg-1.min-1)[195] when urine output or peripheral or cerebral perfusion is a concern.

Interactions between antiarrhythmics and alpha-2 agonists: All antiarrhythmics can be used with alpha-2 agonists. However, as a rule of thumb, lowered dosages and a reduced speed of administration should be considered with continuous P-R monitoring. For example, amiodarone (Cordarone®) administration is decreased over 2-3 days: a high dose (900 mg/ day) without co-administration of alpha-2 agonists is reduced to a low dose (300 mg day-1) with co-administration of an alpha-2 agonist or preferably to complete cessation, as a function of HR or arrhythmias. Amiodarone boluses will be reduced, especially if hypovolemia or BP instability is present (from 300 mg over 20 min without co-administration of an alpha-2 agonist to 150 mg over 40 min when an alpha-2 agonist has been administered before amiodarone). Verapamil (Isoptine®) can be administered using a 1.25 mg bolus repeated every 2-5 min as required. When severe hypovolemia and bradycardia occur, the Trendelenburg position and immediate administration of CaCl₂ 1 g and ephedrine 15 mg are applied, followed by brisk volume expansion.]

2) Ventilation

Ventilatory depression does not occur with alpha-2 agonists[41] except in the setting of accidental or intended overdose. The absence of ventilatory depression makes alpha-2 agonists the

first-line drug in the setting of non-invasive ventilation[29,30,198] (high flow oxygen, helmet or mask ventilation): could this be extended to proning in awake patients, for example, with respect to the covid-19 pandemics?[199] In the CCU, at the doses described above[12,131] (part I, III), respiratory depression is not observed.[41,47,80,88,200] When high-dose benzodiazepines are administered before admission to the CCU, oversedation, respiratory depression,¹⁷ or atelectasis can occur. [The options are immediate cessation of benzodiazepine administration (part I, III, D), administration of a benzodiazepine antagonist (flumazenil) if appropriate, administration of continuous infusion of an alpha-2 agonist without a loading dose, ventilatory monitoring and transient NIV or invasive ventilation, if needed.] Upper airway obstruction is observed in patients presenting with sleep apnoea[72] and healthy volunteers,[202] presumably during slow-wave sleep ('snoring'). Whether such obstructions are clinically relevant during NIV requires study.

3) Temperature

Hyperthermia following administration of dexmedetomidine has been reported (n = 9[203]), although alpha-2 agonists act on the hypothalamic activation threshold ('set point'), generating mild hypothermia (35–35.5°C).[88,94,204,205] [This report contradicts our clinical experience with alpha-2 agonists in facilitating fever control in the setting of septic shock or ARDS.[90]] Nevertheless, hyperthermia should be borne in mind as a possible adverse drug reaction.

4) Ogilvie syndrome

When alpha-2 agonists are used as premedication or within the setting of opioid-free anaesthesia[122] (Quintin, unpublished data), bowel movement is observed before surgery. Clonidine reduces diarrhoea in the setting of rapid opioid detoxification under general anaesthesia.[206] Accordingly, Ogilvie syndrome has been observed immediately following the introduction of alpha-2 agonists[207] in the setting of heavy sedation.[208] Could the pro- or antikinetic overall effect be related to baseline parasympathetic vs. sympathetic dominance?

IV) Dexmedetomidine vs. clonidine

Medetomidine (racemic of levo- and dexmedetomidine) exhibits an alpha-2/alpha-1 selectivity ratio of 1620; conversely, clonidine has a selectivity of 220.[209] Selectivity for alpha-2 receptors is only *relative*. Furthermore, this selectivity is only an *in vitro* argument, with only marketing

¹⁷ Midazolam i.v. (2 mg) after oral administration of clonidine (300 µg) leads to transient respiratory depression, rarely (Quintin, unpublished data). In fact, low-dose benzodiazepines administered alone evoke transient respiratory arrest, rarely.[201]

relevance and *no* clinical relevance, for differentiating dexmedetomidine from clonidine. Selectivity is relevant only when very high-dose alpha-2 agonists are administered, leading to hypertension[44,210–212] (discussion in Figure 3). Factually, the pharmacodynamics of dexmedetomidine and clonidine are identical. In addition, no head-to-head comparisons of the 2 drugs have been conducted in various CCU settings (but ClinicalTrials.gov : NCT03653832). Thus, alpha-2 agonist selection is a function of the setting and the patient.

- Clonidine is available as a p.o., i.v., or transdermal drug only in some countries. Conversely, dexmedetomidine is an i.v. drug, usable as a spray in children.
- Clonidine is inexpensive and widely available. Dexmedetomidine is more expensive than clonidine; however, the reduced duration of ventilation and length of CCU stay compared to those with conventional sedation[37,83] generate savings.
- Clonidine is bioavailable with oral (90%)[44] and rectal (95%) administration.[213] Dexmedetomidine is less available when administered orally (15%).[214] Both drugs are well absorbed intranasally.
- 4) Clonidine is metabolized to inactive metabolites through the liver (50%) and excreted unchanged via the kidneys (50%). [214] Therefore, clonidine is relatively contraindicated in the setting of acute kidney injury. [Nevertheless, since renal replacement therapy (RRT) is available in the CCU, this contraindication is relative. If RRT is used, then the dose of clonidine is usually titrated upwards to achieve the desired effect (Quintin, unpublished data).]
- Dexmedetomidine is excreted via the liver; therefore, acute liver insufficiency is a contraindication. Alternatively, the dose should be lowered.
- 6) [In stable patients, sedation is achieved earlier with dexmedetomidine (30-120 min) than with clonidine (120-240 min). Thus, the nursing staff considers dexmedetomidine easier to use (Simonet, de Kock, Nevertheless, personal communication). rescue sedation[74] (part I, III, D) is necessary to compensate for the non-instantaneous sedative effect evoked by both alpha-2 agonists. The drawback of the slower effect of clonidine is relative. Since a patient will stay in the CCU for an extended period, a difference of $\approx 2-3$ h to achieve a peak sedative effect will not affect the length of stay or costs (steady cooperative sedation with dexmedetomidine: 2-4 h; with clonidine: 3-6 h; Pichot, unpublished data). Furthermore, unstable patients require a 'start low and go slow' approach, regardless of whether dexmedetomidine or clonidine is used (part I, III, F).]
- 7) The elimination half-life of dexmedetomidine is ≈ 180 min vs. ≈ 8–24 h for clonidine.[190] A shorter half-life is an advantage if abrupt discontinuation of the alpha-2 agonist is needed and a disadvantage during tapering (part I, III, F).

Conclusion

Currently, no evidence-based data support any expert-based recommendations or an international consensus regarding the use of alpha-2 agonists in the CCU. Furthermore, no extensive randomized, controlled trials have addressed the use of alpha-2 agonists specifically for the pathologies considered here. Thus, despite biases, the present views are valid because they reflect years of clinical practice in different countries. These views emphasize the potential use of alpha-2 agonists as firstline sedative agents[15-17,73,74] in the CCU. We hope that the mistakes that we have made can be avoided in terms of the selection of patients, including frail patients, the speed and dose of alpha-2 agonists according to required effect, the goal (sedation vs. systemic circulation vs. micro-circulation vs. ventilation vs. inflammation), and the use of alpha-2 agonists in combination with neuroleptics and opioid-free analgo-sedation. Clinical decisions should consider the benefit/risk ratio in each patient before potent drugs, such as alpha-2 agonists, are administered. A learning curve is suggested: a) first administer alpha-2 agonists in stable patients without hypovolemia (e.g., patients with alcohol withdrawal or refractory DT); and then b) move toward unstable patients ('start low and go slow' approach: hypovolemia/hypotension, multiple trauma, etc.) using iterative circulatory optimization. Finally, whether alpha-2 agonists improve, [23-28] or not, [68] the outcome requires stronger evidence in sick patients, without co-administration of conventional sedation.[153,215] In addition, niche indications are to be considered: one size does not fit all. Hopefully, evidence-based data will inform evidence-based international quidelines.

Part II: Clinical Applications

I) Delirium

CCU delirium, alcohol withdrawal, established delirium tremens and delirium tremens refractory to haloperidol[200] are considered sequentially.

A) CCU delirium

Delirium is characterized by: a) the acute onset of cerebral dysfunction with a change or fluctuation in baseline mental status, b) a reduced ability to focus, shift or sustain attention, a disturbed level of consciousness, or reduced clarity of awareness of the environment, and c) cognitive (disorganized thinking, memory deficits, disorientation, or language disturbance) or perceptual disturbance (hallucinations or delusions).[2] Delirium may be 'hypo-active' (66% of CCU patients; inattention, disordered thinking, or a decreased level of consciousness without agitation),[5] for which prognosis is poor.[234] Conversely, delirium may be

hyperactive (2% of CCU patients[5]). Delirium is associated with increased mortality, prolonged CCU and hospital stays, and cognitive impairment.[2] CCU mortality increases from 0–15% when delirium does not occur[143] to 34% when delirium occurs[152]: a 10% increase in the relative risk of death for each day of delirium exists (quoted from (234)). Therefore, early diagnosis[130] and treatment of delirium are required. However, evidence linking treated delirium and improved outcomes is missing.[234]

Before diagnosing nonspecific delirium, other causes should be considered after neurological examination and neuro-imaging: sepsis, pain, hypoxia, hypoglycaemia and hypotension, followed by withdrawal from alcohol, opioids or illegal drugs.

Current recommendations suggest avoiding benzodiazepines with long terminal half-lives.[4] Benzodiazepines are currently used only as short-term medications for co-induction of general anaesthesia, rescue sedation, [74] anxiety, seizures and amnesia. Among ventilated patients (assist control, proportional assist ventilation, pressure control), a reduced incidence of delirium is observed when low-dose dexmedetomidine is administered to prevent delirium as a night-time sedative (RASS=-1, 9 pm-6 am).[235] When opioid doses were unchanged and sedative doses were halved, [235] 80% of patients in the dexmedetomidine group did not present with delirium vs. 54% in the control group. Dexmedetomidine patients are less tired, presumably due to reduced sleep fragmentation.[71]

[Extubation and agitation after extubation: As protective airway reflexes are unaffected following administration of high-dose alpha-2 agonists in the ambulatory cardiology setting,[147] reducing the dose of the alpha-2 agonist before extubation is not necessary. The point is not the dose of the alpha-2 agonist, but the *alertness* of the patient (-2 < RASS < 0) without inappropriate agitation after extubation. Lastly, when an alpha-2 agonist has not been administered prior to extubation, and if the patient becomes agitated after extubation, then an alpha-2 agonist is administered and titrated to achieve calmness after extubation. This eases the management when *continuous* non-invasive ventilation (NIV) is undertaken for several days before intubation or after early extubation.]

B) Prevention of alcohol withdrawal

Alcohol dependence is present in 15–20% of all hospitalized patients.[143] During hospitalization, 8–31% of these alcohol-dependent patients develop alcohol withdrawal symptoms (AWS) with neurologic and autonomic dysfunctions. Approximately 15 and 5% of these AWS patients will develop tonic-clonic seizures or hyperactive DT (agitation, delirium, seizures, hypertension, tachycardia, arrhythmia, hyperpyrexia, diaphoresis),

respectively.[2]

Conventional prevention of DT includes identification and monitoring of patients at risk, early mobilization, cognitive stimulation, physiotherapy, noise reduction, a preserved day-night cycle, vision and hearing, continued orientation and information, ample hydration,[234] and vitamins (B1: thiamine; B6: pyridoxine). [Pre-emptively treating a patient pharmacologically before overt DT may lead to overtreatment of patients who will not develop DT. As long as a patient is continuously scrutinized in the intermediate care unit, monitoring the Confusion Assessment Method for the ICU (CAM-ICU) score, hallucinations, agitation and tremors is the deterrent to the development of DT.]

C) 'De novo' alcohol withdrawal

1) Admission from the ward

Patients in the ward or the CCU/intermediate care unit are often agitated, under physical restraint and receiving intermittent doses of benzodiazepines i.v. or p.o. (Table 1). [However, they retain some coherence for a few seconds or dozens of seconds, allowing administration of clonidine 450-600 µg¹⁸ orally (p.o.) with some water¹⁹ every 4 h.] A similar regimen has been described.[191] [Within 30-120 min, calmness allows restraint to be withheld in young, muscular, combative patients as soon as -1 < RASS < 0 is achieved without any uncoordinated movement or combativeness. As soon as agitation is controlled and tremors are completely suppressed, the regimen is eased to clonidine p.o. 300-600 µg every 6 h, then 9 h and so on (with additional support: Table 1). Usually, a dose of clonidine up to ≈ 2 µg.kg-1.h-1 (i.e., European dosage ≈ 22 vials or pills/24 h/70 kg) allows one to achieve quietness within a few hours.]

2) Admission from the ward following benzodiazepine overdose

When a DT patient is admitted from the ward to the CCU following oversedation with benzodiazepines, the patient presents a combination of oversedation and/or agitation, a degree of hypoventilation, sepsis (usually pulmonary) and minimal acute kidney injury. Supportive treatment is provided (table 1) and benzodiazepine administration is stopped immediately. Alpha-2 agonists should be administered immediately after physical examination and assessment

¹⁸ See insert for the various dosages for pills/vials in Europe vs. the USA.

¹⁹ The i.v. route (2 μ g.kg-1.h-1 for 24 h) is used if the oral route cannot be used. To our knowledge, the use of oral/nasal/rectal dexmedetomidine in such a setting has not been described.

of contra-indications: dexmedetomidine 0.7[200] to $1.5 \ \mu$ g.kg-1.h-1 or clonidine i.v. 1-2 μ g.kg-1.h-1 adjusted to -2 < RASS < 0. The low dose (0.7 μ g.kg-1.h-1) is used[200] after an unsuccessful haloperidol trial (maximum daily dose of haloperidol: 30 mg (200)). [In our hands, high-dose alpha-2 agonists represent one strategy to control agitation as quickly as possible in the context of pre-existing benzodiazepine or haloperidol treatment (part I, III, F). The alpha-2 agonist is tapered as above (part I, III, F).]

[Following benzodiazepine overdose and failure to control DT, the objective is to *suppress* agitation, hallucinations, and tremors for ≥ 24 h. This may lead to overshooting when agitation is controlled as quickly as possible, without intubation (transient deeper sedation: -3 < RASS < -2; ≈ 3 h).] Immediately after achieving this deep short-term sedation with an alpha-2 agonist, light sedation ($-2 \le RASS \le 0$) is aimed for with lowering the alpha-2 agonist dose: agitation, jerking, and tremors should be totally suppressed in the absence of physical restraint. Non-invasive or invasive ventilation may be considered if required.

D) Established delirium tremens

A patient admitted to the CCU presenting with established DT often exhibits multiple trauma and/or organ failure (MOF): pneumonia or 'focal' ARDS, oliguria or acute kidney injury, agitation occurring during weaning from conventional sedation and so on. The risk of sepsis or septic shock in a patient with an initial diagnosis of DT persists during or immediately after complete recovery of delirium, with possible delayed diagnostic.

[In the setting of established DT: a) conventional sedation is stopped immediately before initiation of a dexmedetomidine/ clonidine infusion, b) only i.v. alpha-2 agonists should be used, that is, dexmedetomidine 1.5 μ g.kg-1.h-1 adjusted to heavy sedation (-3 < RASS < -2), for the shortest possible interval and lightened as soon as possible. As agitation may persist for 30–180 min before achieving steady sedation (midazolam)[74] may be administered (part I, III,D).] Conversely, would breakthrough occurs, haloperidol bolus 5-10 mg is considered.

E) Refractory delirium tremens

Alpha-2 agonists were used early in the setting of refractory DT.[236–238] [In this setting, there is no upper limit for the dose of an alpha-2 agonist. The issue is achieving quietness without brisk movements, hallucinations or tremors for \geq 24 h. If alpha-2 agonists used alone cannot achieve quietness (dexmedetomidine 1.5 µg.kg-1.h-1 or clonidine 2 µg.kg-1.h-1), then neuroleptics should be added (Table 2)]. High-dose alpha-2 agonists and neuroleptic agents should be adjusted downward as soon as suppression of tremor and agitation ³ >24 h are observed. [Neuroleptics are selected according to primary symptom (Pichot, unpublished data):

- a) hallucinations: haloperidol²⁰ 50 mg/48 ml, continuous infusion: 2 mL.h-1 initially, that is, 50 mg.day-1.
- b) agitation: loxapine 100 mg through an n/g tube every 6 h to achieve deep sedation (3 < RASS < -2) for 3–6 h and control agitation, followed by adjustment to -2 < RASS < 0 as early as possible (part I, III). A period (≈ 3–6 h) of deep sedation (-3 < RAAS < -2) is usually inescapable, followed by lightened sedation (-2 < RASS < 0). Loxapine 100 mg every 6 h is modified to loxapine every 12 h with the addition of, for example, dexmedetomidine 1.5 µg.kg-1.h-1. Then, the loxapine dosage is reduced as early as possible (part I, III, D).

In our hands, a combination of high-dose alpha-2 agonists and high-dose neuroleptics abates refractory DT. Baclofen 50–150 mg[144] or low-dose midazolam (e.g., 1 mg.h-1) are never necessary to achieve quietness. As these drugs are GABA agonists and as GABA is involved in alcoholism, this possibility presents nevertheless relevance.]

F) Withdrawal from illegal drugs

Administration of alpha-2 agonists in the setting of heroin withdrawal[240] lead to the use of alpha-2 agonists in the setting of anaesthesia,[45,241,242] alcohol[236] or tobacco withdrawal. [243] Alpha-2 agonists are widely used in rapid detoxification management. Accordingly, early rapid detoxification in methadone addicts has been observed: clonidine (17 µg.kg-1. day-1, i.e., \approx 1.2 mg.day-1), without general anaesthesia, achieved a high success rate and near-total suppression of withdrawal symptoms.[244]

For tobacco withdrawal, as most DT patients present mixed alcohol and tobacco intoxication, alpha-2 agonists are administered to achieve the desired sedative effect in addition to transdermal nicotine.

II) Postoperative sedation

Medical patients require higher doses of alpha-2 agonists. [12] By contrast, postoperative[12] or trauma patients require higher doses of analgesics.[12] These data require replication and emphasize iterative objective evaluations of pain in intubated vs. nonintubated patients.

A) Multiple trauma

Multiple-trauma patients (Table 3) experience problems beyond the scope of this manuscript, as: a) definitive surgery and haemostasis; b) inflammation, infection and so on; and c) alcohol, cannabis, heroin and so on withdrawal (part II, I), regardless of comorbidities.

²⁰ Olanzapine vs. haloperidol treatments show no difference. However, an open-label study shows the superiority of dexmedetomidine vs. haloperidol (quoted from (234)). Quietapine, an atypical neuroleptic with a minimal effect on the QT interval, at 50– 200 mg orally or via n/g tube every 12 h appears to be more effective than 'as needed' haloperidol to address critical care delirium.[239]

Table 2: Refractory delirium tremens

Positive diagnosis	History of chronic alcohol intoxication and alcohol withdrawal, hallucinations, agitation, fine tremor.
Differential diag- nosis	Confusion due to sepsis (beware of occurrence of sepsis or septic shock immediately after resolution of DT or simultaneous to DT), metabolic abnormalities, physical/neurological examination.
Overall assessment	Circulation: iterative response to passive leg raising if arterial line in place: normalize volemia before and during administration of alpha-2 agonists.
	Ventilation: ,focal' pneumonia?
	Kidney (consider dexmedetomidine if acute kidney injury), liver (consider clonidine if liver insufficiency), pancreas, metabolism.
	Consider BIS or equivalent if benzodiazepines or propofol infusion are to be used.
Supportive treat- ment	Ventilation: high 02 flow (Optiflow®) or continuous non invasive ventilation (NIV: consider helmet) as soon as quietness is achieved. The tolerance to continuous, 24/24, NIV is excellent under alpha-2 agonist. Alternate High O2 flow and NIV to minimize skin alterations.
	Hydration: consider hyperthermia and agitation to evoke adequate diuresis (> 1 mL.kg.d, i.e., > 1700 mL/70 kg/24 h)
	Vitamins (B1, B6), nicotine patch(es), eu-glycemia, trace elements, phosphorus, magnesium, calcium supplementation, anti-infectious therapy if appropriate.
	Prophylaxis of thrombosis and gastro-intestinal hemorrhage.
	Daily monitoring of K+, Mg++, phosphorus, calcium.
	Should seizures occur, treat accordingly : benzodiazepine (clonazepam 2 mg bolus, Rivotril® as stat treatment) followed immediately by levetiracetam (Keppra®) and phenytoin (Dilantin®) to avoid over sedation with benzodiazepine.
Sedation	Goal: quiet patient (day: -1 < RASS < 0; night: -2 < RASS < 0): no brisk movements, hallucinations and fine tremor controlled for > 24 h.
	1) Discontinue benzodiazepine, hypnotics, opioid and non-opioid analgesics and so on, immediately upon admission.
	2) Continue administering neuroleptics to avoid bout of abrupt agitation upon benzodiazepine/opiates cessation of administration.
	Only when alpha-2 agonists are not sufficient to evoke -1 < RASS < 0, supplementation with second-line drugs, consider:
	a) Core symptom : agitation: loxapine 100 mg*4-6/day through n/g tube adjusted as early as possible to, for example, 25mg*4 to achieve -1 < RASS < 0.
	NB : monitor QT when administering loxapine.
	or cyamemazine (Tercian®) 25 mg*3 up to 50*3
	or levomepromazine (Nozinan®) 50–200 mg/day continuous i.v.
	or chlorpromazine (Largactil®) 50–200 mg/day continuous i.v.
	b) Core symptom : hallucination: haloperidol 5mg every 6 h (20 mg/day) or preferably continuous infusion: 50 mg/48 ml/ 4 mL.h-1 (i.e., start with circa 100 mg/day) adjusted to 25 mg/day to -1 < RASS < 0.
	NB: maximal recommended dose for haloperidol : ≈ 30 mg.day-1 (Carrasco, 2016). De-escalate as early as possible.
	c) Tiapride 100–1200 mg/day : 1200 mg/48 ml 2 mL.h-1 adjusted to -1 < RASS < 0.
	3) Start administering alpha-2 agonists:
	Contra-indication: sick sinus, A-V block II-III, hypovolemia.
	Refractory DT is very rarely managed without tracheal intubation. The usual presentation in the CCU is a patient who has been intubated to allow for conventional sedation (light total intravenous anesthesia, analgo-sedation). In non-intubated patient with some cooperation: clonidine 3–4 pills/vials (1 pill/vial = 150 µg in Europe) every 4–6 h to be administered orally up to 2–3 µg.kg.h-1 for 48–96 h.
	Suppression of agitation following administration of oral clonidine occur usually within 60–120 min. This should not imply discharging the patient within 24 h from critical care unit (CCU): the patient should remain in the CCU and administered with alpha-2 agonists for 48–96 h (absence of tremor) to avoid a second bout of DT after being discharged from the intermediate care unit to the ward.
	Intubated-mechanically ventilated patient: dexmedetomidine 1.5 µg.kg.h-1 or clonidine 2 µg.kg.h-1 for 48–96 h adjusted to -2 < RASS < 0; no loading dose: use rescue midazolam (3–5 mg to be repeated) during the interval necessary for alpha-2 agonists to induce ,cooperative' sedation (30–60 min for dexmedetomidine; 3–6 h for i.v. clonidine).
	Insert a sticker ,DO NOT BOLUS' on the i.v. line for alpha-2 agonist (Shehbi 2010).
	Some elderly patients require higher dose of alpha-2 agonists (clonidine up to 4 µg.kg.h-1) to achieve quietness; by contrast, most young patients on cannabis, heroin, cocaine and so on (alone or in addition to alcohol) appear quite sensitive to alpha-2 agonist evoked sedation.
	The treatment of refractory DT rests on the association of several drugs (alpha-2 agonists+neuroleptics: alpha-2+haloperidol+tiapride or alpha-2+loxapine+tiapride) to evoke quietness through different mechanisms with minimal circulatory or ventilatory side-effects. As the patient improves, de-escalate drugs as early as possible : suppression of neuroleptics, then of alpha-2 agonists.
	In rare instances, SBP may be low: a) check for etiology (volemia, sepsis, etc.); b) use low dose noradrenaline rather than tapering al- pha-2 agonists; c) a second best practice is to lower the dose or suppress alpha-2 agonist administration and carry on with neuroleptics, scaled up to absence of agitation, hallucination, tremor. Basically, there is no maximal dose for neuroleptics: the patient should be quiet without tremor without resorting to general anesthesia or high dose benzodiazepine (ventilatory side-effects).

Table 2: (Continued)

Pain should be iteratively evaluated by combining behavioural[129] and circulatory parameters. A complete shift of emphasis has emerged: opioid analgesics are currently used only as rescue analgesics,[151] which may evoke exaggerated bradycardia in the presence of dexmedetomidine.[197]

The analgesics with the fewest side-effects should be selected considering the importance of spontaneous breathing. [Accordingly, opioid-free analgo-sedation should be used: a) intact respiratory genesis evoked by alpha-2 agonists[41,80,88] and b) analgesia[76] and analgognosia[10] evoked by alpha-2 agonists. This lowers the analgesic requirements. Nonopioid analgesics (or opioid analgesics with minimal respiratory effects, such as tramadol) should be considered, that is, ketamine, aminotryptilline, nefopam, pregabalin/gabapentin, carbamazepine and nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory agents (Table 3). Relative contra-indications exist according to age (nefopam), acute kidney injury (tramadol), antiinflammatory agents, seizures, etc.]

B) Cardiac surgery

The standardization of cardiac surgery with/without cardiopulmonary bypass (CPB) led to the establishment of fast-track cardiac anaesthesia and early discharge from the CCU. Patients' conditions are complex because of extensive comorbidities beyond the scope of this manuscript: age,

left ventricular systolic or diastolic impairment, chronic obstructive lung disease, chronic kidney insufficiency, diabetes, and obesity and so on (Table 4).

[Cooperative sedation with an alpha-2 agonist will allow discontinuation of opioid analgesia intraoperatively or upon reaching the CCU with appropriate use of rescue sedation. In addition, opioid-free anaesthesia is now used in the cardiac anaesthesia setting.[245] Reduced cognitive and respiratory effects due to minimal anaesthesia or opioid-free anaesthesia will ease intraoperative and postoperative circulatory instability. Cooperative sedation with opioid-free postoperative analgesia (Table 4) will achieve circulatory stability with adequate analgesia, analgognosia and sympathetic deactivation evoked by alpha-2 agonists. The alpha-2 agonist is preferably administered as a premedication.[45,184] Conversely, the alpha-2 agonist can be administered either intraoperatively before or upon admission to the CCU.[184,246]

Conclusion

Alpha-2 agonists are to be used as first-line sedatives, based on individual assessment and dosage, not on a 'one size fits all' approach. By easing cognitive, ventilatory and circulatory management, a wise use of cooperative sedation will ease the overall CCU stay.

Table 3: Multiple trauma

Overall assessment	Iterative use of Richmond Agitation Sedation scale and Behavioural Pain Scale.
	Circulation: iterative peripheral mottling, capillary refill, diuresis, passive leg raising.
	Iterative echocardiography: normalize volemia before administration of alpha-2 agonists.
	Ventilation: assess ,wet' lung/ARDS following multiple transfusion.
	NB: ,wet' lung or peripheral edema does not contra-indicate the use of alpha-2 agonists; alpha-2 agonists evoke anti-ADH effect, diuresis and improved kidney function.
	Kidney, liver, metabolic function.
	Infection, inflammation.
Supportive treatment	Ventilation: as appropriate, O2 supplementation or High Oxygen flow (Optiflow®) or non-invasive ventilation or invasive ventilation as soon as sedation is achieved.
	Hydration to adequate diuresis (e.g. > 1 mL.kg.d, i.e., > 1700 mL/70 kg/24 h) vs. renal replacement therapy, if appropriate.
	After full haemostasis, prophylaxis of thrombosis.
	Prophylaxis of gastro-intestinal haemorrhage.
	Supportive treatment specific to considered trauma.
	Consider BIS or equivalent if benzodiazepine or propofol infusion are to be used.
Sedation	1) Goal : quietness (intubated patient: -3 < RASS < 0; non-intubated patient: -2 < RASS < 0), analgesia (BPS < 3–5), spontaneous ventilation (e.g., pressure support with minimized work of breathing: pH, PaCO2) as soon as possible.
	1) Discontinue propofol, benzodiazepine, opioid analgesics.
	2) Dexmedetomidine 0.75 μg.kg-1.h-1 up to 1.5 μg.kg-1.h-1 adjusted to -3 < RASS < 0.
	NB: if sedation is not sufficient with the alpha-2 agonist, do not EVER administer a bolus of alpha-2 agonist : use ,rescue' sedation to be repeated if necessary and increase the administration of i.v. continuous dexmedetomodine up to ,ceiling' effect (1.5 µg.kg-1.h-1).
	Insert a sticker ,DO NOT BOLUS' on the i.v. line (Shehabi 2010).
	3) If insufficient, loxapine 100 mg through n/g adjusted to, for example, 25 mg*4 or haloperidol 1 mg.h-1 lowered to 0.25-0.5 mg.h-1 adjusted to -1 < RASS < 0.
	4) Non-opioid analgesia:
	Ketamine 50–100 mg.day-1, tramadol 400 mg.day-1, nefopam 100 mg.day-1/48 ml : 2 mL.h-1. These dosages may be reduced to 1 mL.h-1 then 0.5 ml.h-1 after 1-3 days of administration. The clinical impression is that after full impregnation with an alpha-2 agonist for 1-3 days, the patient needs little analgesia per se, presumably due to the analgognosia evoked by the alpha-2 agonist (see text).
	NB: In elderly patients administer nefopam 20mg/day for 1–2 days then increase nefopam if necessary up to 100 mg if no cognitive side-effects occur. Beware of possible acute urine retention if Folley catheterization is not performed.
	NB: Tramadol is a weak opioid analgesics acting on µ receptors, contra-indicated if acute kidney insufficiency is present
	To avoid completely opioid analgesics or for an early stop of the administration of tramadol-nefopam especially when elderly patients are considered, consider:
	amitryptyline (Laroxyl®) 25 mg i.v.*4 or lidocaine 0.5 mg/kg/h (loading dose: 1 mg. kg-1.h-1) or ketamine (0.25 mg kg-1.h-1) infusion.
	or pregabaline (Lyrica®) 150–600 mg/day : start with 25 mg*2 through n/g (day 0), then 50*2 (day 2) then 75*2 (day 4). When pancreatitis or CCU neuromyopathy is considered: 150*2 and up to total daily dose: 600 mg.
	or gabapentine (Neurontin® 100–900 mg/day) or carbamazepine (Tegretol® 200–400 mg/day).
	5) ,Rescue opioids': if needed, opioid analgesics to be re-introduced sparingly; allow for early spontaneous ventilation, absence of effect on intestinal motility, hyper-algesia.
Rescue sedation	To avoid making a complex situation more complex , conventional sedation is to be discontinued abruptly. In intubated mechani- cally ventilated patients, as i.v. dexmedetomidine or clonidine evoke sedation after ≈ 60 to 180 min respectively, ,rescue' sedation (midazolam bolus 3–5 mg) is to be administered repeatedly as required until the alpha-2 agonist evokes quietness to -1 < RASS < 0, combined with a neuroleptics, if needed.
	Immediately prior to nursing, rescue' sedation (midazolam 1-2 mg (titrated to effect) may be administered to maintain -3 < RASS < 0.

Insert I: Functional anatomy of alpha-2 adrenergic receptors *Neurochemistry*:

Alpha-2 agonists act on alpha-2 adrenergic receptors located on or near the central noradrenergic and peripheral sympathetic neurons: a) 'presynaptic' *autoreceptors* on central noradrenergic/adrenergic cell bodies or terminals and on sympathetic post-ganglionic neurons in the peripheral sympathetic system; b) 'post-synaptic' *heteroreceptors* located on *non*-noradrenergic or *non*-adrenergic neurons or on neurons acting peripherally on post-ganglionic sympathetic neurons (Figure 3).²¹

Anatomy:

In the CNS, alpha-2 agonists act:

a) on the ventral noradrenergic bundle, which projects from the rostral ventrolateral medulla (glutamatergic and

Table 4: Postoperative management following cardiac surgery

Positive diagnosis	Functional history, preoperative catheterization/coronary angiography or echocardiography, intra-operative echocardiography findings, surgical procedure, cross-clamp and cardiopulmonary bypass time, administration of cardioplegia (volume, interval), vasopressors, inotropes, antiarrhythmics, blood losses and products.
Overall assessment	Circulation: iterative assessment of bleeding, mottling, capillary refill, diuresis, ECG, troponin, echocardiography and blood gases (arterial and central venous); iterative assessment of A-V block, volemia, compliance, contractility.
	Ventilation: chest X-ray or lung echography.
	Kidney/metabolic function.
	Consider BIS or equivalent if benzodiazepine or propofol infusion is to be used, especially if low cardiac output occurs.
Supportive treatment	Address ventilation/chest X ray, volume, inotropic and vasopressor/dilator status.
	Peripheral external rewarming.
	Suppress shivering (bolus of i.v. meperidine 100 mg or clonidine 37.5 µg i.v.).
Sedation	1) Goal: extubation as soon as possible in a quiet unpainful patient: -1 < RASS < 0 after addressing normothermia, bleeding, circula- tion, ventilation.
	2) Discontinue anaesthesia.
	3) Dexmedetomidine 0.75 µg.kg.h-1 adjusted to -1 < RASS < 0 (contra-indications: A-V block II-III unless pacing in place, hypovolemia).
	Hypotension : check inotropism and volemia, then low dose noradrenaline 0.001.005 µg.kg.min-1, if critical stenosis exists.
	NB : Alpha-2 agonists have repeatedly been shown to increase sensitivity to noradrenaline and dobutamine in the setting of cardiac surgery.
	4) Extubation as early as possible, ideally within OR, following end of rewarming and absence of bleeding.
	5) Discontinue alpha-2 agonist as soon as possible (usually next morning): absence of tachycardia or hypertension, spontaneous ventilation.
	6) Analgesia :
	Intraoperatively and before emergence: paracetamol 1g, nefopam 20, ketoprofen 50 mg depending upon high dose opioid anaesthesia vs. opioid free anaesthesia.
	Consider non-opioid analgesics: ketamine 50 mg.day-1, tramadol 400 mg.day-1, nefopam 100 mg.day-1 for 48 h.
	To completely avoid opioid analgesics or to achieve early stop of the administration of tramadol-nefopam in elderly patients, consider amitriptyline (Laroxyl® 25 mg*4), gabapentine (Neurotin® 100-900 mg.day-1), pregabaline (Lyrica® 150-600 mg.day-1), carbamaze-pine (Tegretol 200-400 mg.day-1).
	7) If not sufficient, use morphine (,rescue opiates') sparingly following administration of non-opioid analgesics.
	NB: If sedation is not sufficient with the alpha-2 agonist, do not EVER administer a bolus of alpha-2 agonist : use ,rescue' sedation (midazolam 3–5 mg) to be repeated if necessary and increase the administration of i.v. continuous dexmedetomodine up to "ceiling" effect (1.5 µg.kg-1.h-1).
Rescue sedation	Upon CCU admission, as dexmedetomidine requires ≈60 min to evoke sedation, if needed, midazolam bolus 3–5 mg or propofol 10-20 mg, repeated as required, to achieve -1 < RASS < 0: the patient should stay quiet to allow for transfer, nursing and assessment. Consider extubation as soon as temperature, circulatory and ventilatory stability is achieved.
	NB: Use of propofol bolus as opposed to midazolam bolus in the presence of alpha-2 agonist exposes to a higher risk of hypotension and bradycardia

adrenergic C1 neurons within the 'vasomotor centre': pre-sympathetic neurons) to the spinal intermediolateral cell column, where sympathetic pre-ganglionic neurons originate from (Figure 1). The alpha-2 agonist evokes sympatho-inhibition in the healthy resting supine volunteer. In the CCU patient, sympathetic deactivation occurs which normalizes the sympathetic activity back toward baseline.

- b) on the dorsal noradrenergic bundle, which projects from major noradrenergic nuclei (locus coeruleus-A6, etc.) to rostral sites (cortex, hippocampus, etc.) (Figure 1). This explains the sedative and antipsychotic effects of alpha-2 agonists to counteract the 'CCU triade': pain, altered cognition/delirium, agitation[234] (Figure 2).
- c) on or near cardiac parasympathetic neurons (cholinergic 'cardiac vagal motoneurons': CVM located next the vasomotor centre: nucleus ambiguous ventro-lateral[247]), which projects on the sinus node). The alpha-2 agonist generates cardiac parasympathomimetic effects[145] (cardiac parasympathetic activation: bradycardia; Figure 3).

Physiology:

Central noradrenergic and adrenergic systems are included within three hierarchized systems (Figures 1 and 4)

²¹ The matter is complex. Suppression of central noradrenergic/ adrenergic cell bodies (i.e., of autoreceptors) do not suppress the cognitive[216] or antihypertensive[50] effects of alpha-2 agonists. Therefore, the effects of alpha-2 agonists are consecutive to actions on non-adrenergic neurons. They presumably act on multiple cell types in the brain stem,[219] that is, on auto- and heteroreceptors on noradrenergic and non-adrenergic neurons respectively.

coordinating the behavioural and autonomic adjustments to the external environment:

- a) 'autonomic' loop: the ascending pain pathways branch in the lower brain stem on the vasomotor centre,[248] which in turn projects to the spinal intermediolateral cell column; this explains the lowered cardiac parasympathetic activity (cardiac parasympathetic withdrawal) and increased sympathetic activity occurring during a nociceptive stimulus (somato-sympathetic reflex[249,250]) (Figure 1).
- b) 'pain' loop[231]: the ascending pain pathways branch in the upper brain stem on the descending noradrenergic and serotoninergic pathways. These descending noradrenergic and serotoninergic pathways in turn suppress ascending pain messages within the spinal lamina I-II ('gate control' theory; Figure 4). Therefore, alpha-2 agonists coordinate pain suppression and autonomic effects (e.g., sympathetic de-activation or parasympathetic activation) simultaneously via *different* loops.
- c) the rostral projections originating from the locus coeruleus to the dorsal noradrenergic bundle and cognitive brain help



Figure 4: Hierarchical organization of neural homeostasis involving the sympathetic nervous system at lower brain stem and spinal levels only: Small-diameter afferent fibres that report the physiological conditions of all of the tissues of the body terminate in lamina I of the spinal dorsal horns. The ascending projections of lamina I neurons provide the bases for somato-autonomic reflex arcs at the spinal and medullary levels (e.g., 'somato-sympathetic reflex' evoking hypertension and tachycardia following a nociceptive stimulus). By contrast, at the spinal levels, lamina I projects strongly to the sympathetic regions in the intermediolateral cell columns of the thoracolumbar cord, where the sympathetic preganglionic neurons originate (ANS: autonomic nervous system; direct spinal somatosympathetic reflex). In the medulla, lamina I neurons project to the A1 and A2 catecholaminergic cell groups (RVLM: rostral ventrolateral medulla, i.e., vasomotor centre; VMM: ventromedial medulla). Modified from Craig, Nature Neuroscience, 2002, 3, 655–66.[231]

explain the anti-delirium properties, [225, 226, 251] possibly a direct effect of alpha-2 agonists (Figure 2).

Insert II: Addressing hypovolemia before administration of alpha-2 agonists

Two different issues are to be considered:

 how to assess and address hypovolemia when noradrenaline is used and sympatholytics superimposed? This is simple, nevertheless *meticulous*.

Within 30-90 s after PLR, systemic blood pressure, vena cava,22 and if possible, aortic velocity are observed. PLR is used as a 'reversible volume load' and performed so as to minimize the changes in pain-evoked sympathetic activity (hip flexion), and heart rate and its consequences on the venous capacitance[170] (Figure 5). Then the alpha-2 agonist is administered: 0.125 µg.kg-1.h-1 then 0.25 and so on, up to 1.5 µg.kg-1.h-1 over 6-12 h (part I, III, F). Systemic pressure, vena cava and aortic velocity responses to PLR are addressed iteratively before each increment of alpha-2 agonist. As the patient is going to stay in the CCU for an extended stay, with rescue sedation at hand, a steady state cooperative sedation is not required upfront, but circulatory stability the goal. Our approach is overly cautious, bearing in mind preloaddependent vs. pre-load independent patients (see below). Nevertheless, more liberal prescription regimen[40] fits with the requirement to maintain the venous return, so that the stroke volume is maintained and exaggerated bradycardia avoided, especially when positive pressure ventilation with positive end-expiratory pressure is set up.



Figure 5: Passive leg raising (PLR) while pivoting the entire bed causes no hip flexion (no sympathetic activation) and evokes a larger transfer of blood from the unstressed venous blood volume to the heart. Changes in cardiac output evoked by PLR predict the response of cardiac output to volume expansion in the setting of circulatory failure. The specificity of PLR is acceptable when changes in pulse pressure are assessed; however, the sensitivity is poor.[233] Modified from Monnet, Intens Care Med, 2008, 34: 659–63.[170]

²² Ventilatory-evoked changes of the diameter of the vena cava: Endexpiratory inferior vena cava diameter IVCEE < 8 mm predicts fluid responsiveness with a 95% specificity. Conversely, IVCEE > 28 mm predicts absence of fluid responsiveness with 95% specificity.[171]

2) what is the physiological and pharmacological rationale behind such management? The matter is complex, involving capacitance vs. resistance vessels, alpha-1 vs. alpha-2 receptors, pre-load dependence, sympathetic block vs. normalization and the considered disease (cardiogenic vs. septic shock).

Physiology: Capacitance vessels (veins) reach 90% of maximum vasoconstriction at *low* rates of sympathetic stimulation[61] (Figure 6). By contrast, for a similar low rate of sympathetic stimulation, the resistance vessels (arteries) are only 10% constricted[61] (Figure 6). Thus, minimal changes in low levels of sympathetic activity evoke proportionally more changes in the veins than in the arteries. In fact, low frequency sympathetic discharge evokes large



Figure 6: Frequency-response curve deduced for resistance (dashed) and capacitance (continuous) in cat skin-muscle. Effects of lumbar vasoconstrictor fibre stimulation calculated in a percentage of the maximum response for the 2 vascular sections. The curve for the capacitance vessels (veins) is to the left: this curve implies more pronounced effects in this section in the low frequency range, compared with those in the resistance vessels (arteries). One third of the regional blood volume is expelled at a low frequency stimulation rate, thus increasing venous return. A fully developed response occurs within 30–40 s for both resistance and capacitance vessels.

Immediate relaxation occurs after cessation of sympathetic stimulation. In contrast, there is delayed relaxation at high rates of sympathetic stimulation; this delayed relaxation could be of relevance after prolonged administration of high-dose noradrenaline, for example, in septic shock: prolonged vasomotor sympathetic hyperactivity is associated temporally with poor microcirculation. In turn, prolonged impaired microcirculation is associated with increased mortality.[139] Would normalization of vasomotor sympathetic activity back toward baseline levels be observed before shock, and would improve microcirculation improve outcomes? Modified from Mellander, Acta Physiol Scand, Suppl, 1960, 50: 1–86[61] and Prys-Roberts, Regulation of Circulation, In The circulation in anaesthesia: applied *physiology* and pharmacology, Blackwell, Oxford, 1980, pp 179–207.[232]

relative increase in HR, and positive inotropic effect. This generates a cardiovascular *coordination* in the healthy supine volunteer occurring, firstly, at *low* frequency sympathetic discharge.[61] During upright positioning ('head-up tilt'), increased venous return, HR and contractility occur. Higher frequency of sympathetic discharge reinforces this sequence of events. By contrast, the cardiac parasympathetic system is: a) deactivated during head-up tilt, leading to tachycardia within 1–2 s,[230] and b) activated briskly during cessation of exercise[252] with exaggerated bradycardia.

Pharmacology: In the setting of septic shock, systemic administration of noradrenaline squeezes the venous capacitance and increases venous return.[175] Contractile response of vascular smooth muscle to NA may be initiated on the arterial side by alpha-1 receptors and on the venous side by alpha-2 receptors.[253] Accordingly, vitro administration of an alpha-2 agonist leads in veno-constriction.[254] Conversely, normalization to of vasomotor sympathetic hyperactivity towards baseline, with alpha-2 agonists, reduces the release of endogenous NA in the synaptic cleft, increases the venous capacitance and decreases the venous return. The physiological consequences are unclear: does normalized sympathetic activity lead to passive venous dilation via reduced NA agonism on alpha-2 receptors? Or to passive arterial dilatation via reduced NA agonism at the level of alpha-1 adrenergic receptors? Or both? The clinical consequences are clear: alpha-2 agonists in the hypovolemic patient reduce the venous return, leading potentially to catastrophes, unless volemia is iteratively checked.

When preload-dependent, the patient moves from the flat part of the Frank-Starling curve to the steep part, implying reduced central venous pressure and lowered cardiac output.

- a) Propofol 1 mg.kg-1.h-1 generates pre-load dependence: 14 patients out of 22 preload-independent patients became pre-load dependent, after propofol infusion.[255]
- b) Dexmedetomidine 0.7 µg.kg-1.h-1 does not generate as much pre-load dependence: only 5 patients out of 20 preload-independent patients became preload dependent.[255] Accordingly, no side effects were observed when dexmedetomidine 0.7 µg.kg-1.h-1 was administered in patients presenting with septic shock (NA requirements ≈ 0.69 µg.kg-1.min-1, i.e., ≈ 3 mg.h-1/70 kg), with additional volume to maintain stroke volume in 7 out of 38 patients.[40]

Clinical setting: The swiftness and amplitude of autonomic response to brisk behavioural or environmental demands is lost in aged or CCU patients. Furthermore, Anaesthetics and conventional sedation elicit sympathetic block (as with regional anaesthesia), further suppressing this coordination. By contrast to anaesthetics, alpha-2 agonists shift the response-curve to

higher frequency without blocking the noradrenaline release: stronger stimuli (hypovolemia, haemorrhage) overcome centrally this shift and the sympathetic normalization evoked by alpha-2 agonists. Higher levels of sympathetic activity elicit venous or arterial constriction. To sum up, under alpha-2 agonists, the peripheral alpha- and beta-adrenergic receptors are left unblocked. By contrast, beta-blockers block peripheral beta receptors.

When volume loading is not administered before general anaesthesia and intubation,[169] the venous capacitance is not replenished *before* sympathetic deactivation: cardiac filling pressure is lowered and stroke volume reduction occurs. As alpha-2 agonists reduce right and left[104,105] filling pressures, but increase left compliance[103] and systolic [109] performance, they evoke

- a) detrimental side-effects in the setting of hypovolemia (trauma, sepsis): superimposed on hypovolemia, sympathetic deactivation reduces the venous return and evokes pump failure. Lowered return and lowered impedance may increase dynamic outflow obstruction.
- b) beneficial side-effects in the setting of cardiogenic pulmonary oedema: lowered filling pressure, improved diastolic and systolic performance.

References

- Petty TL. Suspended life or extending death? Chest 1998;114(2):360–1.
- [2] Barr J, Fraser GL, Puntillo K, Ely EW, Gelinas C, Dasta JF, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the management of pain, agitation, and delirium in adult patients in the intensive care unit. *Crit Care Med* 2013;41(1):263–306.
- [3] Stollings JL, Thompson JL, Ferrell BA, Scheinin M, Wilkinson GR, Hughes CG, et al. Sedative Plasma Concentrations and Delirium Risk in Critical Illness. *Ann Pharmacother* 2018;52(6):513–21.
- [4] Taskforce DAS, Baron R, Binder A, Biniek R, Braune S, Buerkle H, et al. Evidence and consensus based guideline for the management of delirium, analgesia, and sedation in intensive care medicine. Revision 2015 (DAS-Guideline). *Ger Med Sci* 2015;13:Doc19.
- [5] Tonner P. To boldly go where no man has gone before... Intensetimes 2016(26):2–9.
- [6] Shehabi Y, Chan L, Kadiman S, Alias A, Ismail WN, Tan MA, et al. Sedation depth and long-term mortality in mechanically ventilated critically ill adults: a prospective longitudinal multicentre cohort study. *Intensive Care Med* 2013;39(5):910–8.
- [7] Brochard L. Less sedation in intensive care: the pendulum swings back. *Lancet* 2010;375(9713):436–8.
- [8] Kress JP, Pohlman AS, O'Connor MF, Hall JB. Daily interruption of sedative infusions in critically ill patients undergoing mechanical ventilation. *New England Journal of Medicine* 2000;342:1471–7.

- [9] Strom T, Martinussen T, Toft P. A protocol of no sedation for critically ill patients receiving mechanical ventilation: a randomised trial. *Lancet* 2010;375(9713):475–80.
- [10] Kauppila T, Kemppainen P, Tanila H, Pertovaara A. Effect of systemic medetomidine, an alpha-2 adrenoceptor agonist, on experimental pain in humans. *Anesthesiology* 1991;74:3–8.
- [11] Dollery CT, Davies DS, Draffan GH, Dargie HJ, Dean CR, Reid JL, et al. Clinical pharmacology and pharmacokinetics of clonidine. *Clin Pharmacol Ther* 1976;19(1):11–7.
- [12] Venn RM, Newman PJ, Grounds RM. A phase II study to evaluate the efficacy of dexmedetomidine for sedation in the medical intensive care unit. *Intensive Care Medicine* 2003;29:201–7.
- [13] Strom T, Stylsvig M, Toft P. Long-term psychological effects of a no-sedation protocol in critically ill patients. *Crit Care* 2011;15(6):R293.
- [14] Olsen HT, Nedergaard HK, Strom T, Oxlund J, Wian KA, Ytrebo LM, et al. Nonsedation or Light Sedation in Critically III, Mechanically Ventilated Patients. N Engl J Med 2020;382(12):1103–11.
- [15] Pichot C, Ghignone M, Quintin L. Dexmedetomidine and clonidine: from second- to first-line sedative agents in the critical care setting? *J Intensive Care Med* 2012;27(4):219–37.
- [16] Shehabi Y, Botha JA, Ernest D, Freebairn RC, Reade M, Roberts BL, et al. Clinical application, the use of dexmedetomidine in intensive care sedation. *Critical Care and Shock* 2010;13:40–50.
- [17] Pichot C, Longrois D, Ghignone M, Quintin L. Dexmédetomidine et clonidine : revue de leurs propriétés pharmacodynamiques en vue de définir la place des agonistes alpha-2 adrénergiques dans la sédation en réanimation. *Annales Francaises d Anesthesie et de Reanimation* 2012;31(11):876–96.
- [18] Hotchkiss RS, Monneret G, Payen D. Immunosuppression in sepsis: a novel understanding of the disorder and a new therapeutic approach. *Lancet Infect Dis* 2013;13(3):260–8.
- [19] Burton AC. Physiology and biophysics of the circulation: an introductory text. Chicago: Year Book Medical Publisher; 1972.
- [20] Karemaker JM. An introduction into autonomic nervous function. *Physiol Meas* 2017;38(5):R89–R118.
- [21] Petitjeans F, Pichot C, Ghignone M, Quintin L. Early severe acute respiratory distress syndrome: What's going on? Part II: controlled vs. spontaneous ventilation? *Anaesthesiol Intensive Ther* 2016;48(5):339–51.
- [22] De Robertis E, Longrois D. To streamline the guideline challenge: The European Society of Anaesthesiology policy on guidelines development. *Eur J Anaesthesiol* 2016;33(11):794–9.
- [23] Gregorakos L, Kerezoudi E, Dimopoulos G, Thomaides T. Management of blood pressure instability in severe tetanus: the use of clonidine. *Intensive Care Medicine* 1997;23(8):893–5.
- [24] Moritz RD, Machado FO, Pinto EP, Cardoso GS, Nassar SM. [Evaluate the clonidine use for sedoanalgesia in intensive care unit patients under prolonged mechanical ventilation]. *Rev Bras Ter Intensiva* 2008;20(1):24–30. Avaliacao do uso da clonidina para sedoanalgesia de pacientes sob ventilacao mecanica prolongada, internados em unidade de terapia intensiva.

- [25] Pandharipande PP, Sanders RD, Girard TD, McGrane S, Thompson JL, Shintani AK, et al. Effect of dexmedetomidine versus lorazepam on outcome in patients with sepsis: an a priori-designed analysis of the MENDS randomized controlled trial. *Critical Care* 2010;14(2):R38.
- [26] Ji F, Li Z, Nguyen H, Young N, Shi P, Fleming N, et al. Perioperative dexmedetomidine improves outcomes of cardiac surgery. *Circulation* 2013;127(15):1576–84.
- [27] Kawazoe Y, Miyamoto K, Morimoto T, Yamamoto T, Fuke A, Hashimoto A, et al. Effect of Dexmedetomidine on Mortality and Ventilator-Free Days in Patients Requiring Mechanical Ventilation With Sepsis: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA 2017;317(13):1321–8.
- [28] Aso S, Matsui H, Fushimi K, Yasunaga H. Dexmedetomidine and mortality from sepsis requiring mecanical ventilation: a japanese nationwide retrospective cohort study. *Journal of Intensive Care Medicine* 2020.
- [29] Akada S, Takeda S, Yoshida Y, Nakazato K, Mori M, Hongo T, et al. The efficacy of dexmedetomidine in patients with noninvasive ventilation: a preliminary study. *Anesthesia and Analgesia* 2008;107(1):167–70.
- [30] Huang Z, Chen YS, Yang ZL, Liu JY. Dexmedetomidine versus midazolam for the sedation of patients with non-invasive ventilation failure. *Internal Medicine* 2012;51:2299–305.
- [31] Galland C, Sergent B, Pichot C, Ghignone M, Quintin L. Acute iterative bronchospasm and 'do not re-intubate' orders: sedation by an alpha-2 agonist combined with noninvasive ventilation. *Am J Emerg Med* 2015;33(6):857 e3–5.
- [32] Tian X, Li H, Ji Z, Zhao S, Sun M. Application of dexmedetomidine sedation in the treatment of continuous state of asthma : a case report. *Zhonghua Wei Zhong Bing Ji JIU Yi Xue* 2014;26(8):598.
- [33] Takasaki Y, Kido T, Semba K. Dexmedetomidine facilitates induction of noninvasive positive pressure ventilation for acute respiratory failure in patients with severe asthma. *J Anesth* 2009;23(1):147–50.
- [34] Patel BK, Wolfe KS, Pohlman AS, Hall JB, Kress JP. Effect of Noninvasive Ventilation Delivered by Helmet vs Face Mask on the Rate of Endotracheal Intubation in Patients With Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA 2016;315(22):2435–41.
- [35] Thille AW, Frat JP. Noninvasive ventilation as acute therapy. *Curr Opin Crit Care* 2018;24(6):519–24.
- [36] Petitjeans F, Quintin L. Non-invasive Failure in de novo acute hypoxemic respiratory failure: high positive end-expiratory pressure-low PS, i.e. 'inverted' settings ? *Critical Care Medicine* 2016;44(11):e1153–e4.
- [37] Ruokonen E, Parviainen I, Jakob SM, Nunes S, Kaukonen M, Shepherd ST, et al. Dexmedetomidine versus propofol/midazolam for long-term sedation during mechanical ventilation. *Intensive Care Med* 2009;35(2):282–90.
- [38] Pichot C, Mathern P, Khettab F, Ghignone M, Geloen A, Quintin L. Increased pressor response to noradrenaline during sep-

tic shock following clonidine? *Anaesthesia and Intensive Care* 2010;38(4):784–5.

- [39] Leroy S, Aladin L, Laplace C, Jalem S, Rosenthal J, Abrial A, et al. Introduction of a centrally anti-hypertensive, clonidine, reduces noradrenaline requirements in septic shock caused by necrotizing enterocolitis *American Journal of Emergency Medicine* 2017;35(2):e3–377.
- [40] Morelli A, Sanfilippo F, Arnemann P, Hessler M, Kampmeier TG, D'Egidio A, et al. The Effect of Propofol and Dexmedetomidine Sedation on Norepinephrine Requirements in Septic Shock Patients: A Crossover Trial. *Crit Care Med* 2018.
- [41] Voituron N, Hilaire G, Quintin L. Dexmedetomidine and clonidine induce long-lasting activation of the respiratory rhythm generator of neonatal mice: possible implication for critical care. *Respir Physiol Neurobiol* 2012;180(1):132–40.
- [42] Bloor BC. Clonidine and other alpha-2 adrenergic agonists : an important new drug class for the perioperative period. *Seminars in Anesthesia* 1988;7:170-7.
- [43] Maze M. Dexmedetomidine : a view point. Drugs 2000;59:269-.
- [44] Stahle H. A historical perspective: development of clonidine. Bailliere's Clinical Anaesthesiology 2000;14(2):236–46.
- [45] Ghignone M, Quintin L, Duke PC, Kehler CH, Calvillo O. Effects of clonidine on narcotic requirements and hemodynamic response during induction of fentanyl anesthesia and endotracheal intubation. *Anesthesiology* 1986;64:36–42.
- [46] Maze M. From Bench to Bedside and Back Again: A Personal Journey with Dexmedetomidine. *Anesthesiology* 2016;125(3):590–4.
- [47] Colin PJ, Hannivoort LN, Eleveld DJ, Reyntjens K, Absalom AR, Vereecke HEM, et al. Dexmedetomidine pharmacodynamics in healthy volunteers: 2. Haemodynamic profile. *Br J Anaesth* 2017;119(2):211–20.
- [48] Davies DS, Wing LMH, Reid JL, Neill E, Tipett P, Dollery CT. Pharmacokinetics and concentration-effect relationships of intravenous and oral clonidine. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 1977;21:593–601.
- [49] Kooner JS, Peart WS, Mathias CJ. The haemodynamic and hormonal responses after clonidine occur independently of sedation in essential hypertension. *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacol*ogy 1989;28(3):249–55.
- [50] Lorez HP, Kiss D, Da Prada M, Haeusler G. Effects of clonidine on the rate of noradrenaline turnover in discrete areas of the rat central nervous system. *Naunyn-Schmiedeberg's Arch Pharmacol* 1983;323:307–14.
- [51] Unnerstall JR, Kopatjic TA, Kuhar MJ. Distribution of alpha-2 agonist binding sites in the rat and human central nervous system : analysis of some functional, anatomic correlates of the pharmacologic effects of clonidine and related agents. *Brain Research Review* 1984;7:69–101.
- [52] Talley EM, Rosin DL, Lee A, Guyenet PG, Lynch KR. Distribution of alpha 2A-adrenergic receptor-like immunoreactivity in the rat central nervous system. *JComp Neurol* 1996;372(1):111–34.

- [53] Sharma A, Gupta L. Clonidine a wonder drug. *Inidian Journal of Anesthesia and Analgesia* 2019;6(6):2057-62.
- [54] Longrois D, Quintin, L. La dexmedetomidine : raisonnement clinique en vue d'une utilisation pour la sedation en reanimation chez l'adulte *Le Praticien en Anesthesie-Reanimation* 2015;19(3):125–35.
- [55] Abrahams VC, Hilton SM, Zbrozyna A. Active muscle vasodilatation produced by stimulation of the brain stem : its significance in the defence reaction. *Journal of Physiology (London)* 1960;154:491–513.
- [56] Ahlquist RP. A study of adrenotropic receptors. American Journal of Physiology 1948;153:586–600.
- [57] Rundfeldt LC, Maggioni MA, Coker RH, Gunga HC, Riveros-Rivera A, Schalt A, et al. Cardiac Autonomic Modulations and Psychological Correlates in the Yukon Arctic Ultra: The Longest and the Coldest Ultramarathon. *Front Physiol* 2018;9:35.
- [58] Selye H. A syndrome produced by diverse nocuous agents. Nature 1936;138(3479):32.
- [59] Laborit H. La notion de 'reaction oscillante post agressive'. Therapie 1951;6(4):207–10.
- [60] Andrews PJ, Citerio G. Lund Therapy pathophysiology-based therapy or contrived over-interpretation of limited data? *Intensive Care Med* 2006;32(10):1461–3.
- [61] Mellander S. Comparative studies on the adrenergic neuro-hormonal control of resistance and capacitance blood vessels in the cat. Acta Physiol Scand Suppl 1960;50(176):1–86.
- [62] Chippaux C, Carayon A, Rouffilange F, Fabre A, Borjeix L, Lapalle J. Artificial hibernation in war surgery: with reference to its use in Indochina. *Presse Med* 1954;62(24):504–6. L'hibernation artificielle en chirurgie de guerre: d'apres son emploi actuel en Indochine.
- [63] Freeman NE, Shaffer SA, Schecter AE, Holling HE, Marean NE. The Effect of Total Sympathectomy on the Occurrence of Shock from Hemorrhage. J Clin Invest 1938;17(3):359–68.
- [64] Wiggers HC, Ingraham RC, et al. Vasoconstriction and the development of irreversible hemorrhagic shock. Am J Physiol 1948;153(3):511–20.
- [65] Cannon WB. Voodoo death. American Anthropologist 1942;44(169–181):169.
- [66] Morelli A, Ertmer C, Westphal M, Rehberg S, Kampmeier T, Ligges S, et al. Effect of heart rate control with esmolol on hemodynamic and clinical outcomes in patients with septic shock: a randomized clinical trial. *JAMA* 2013;310(16):1683–91.
- [67] Dunser MW, Hasibeder WR. Sympathetic overstimulation during critical illness: adverse effects of adrenergic stress. J Intensive Care Med 2009;24(5):293–316.
- [68] Shehabi Y, Howe BD, Bellomo R, Arabi YM, Bailey M, Bass FE, et al. Early Sedation with Dexmedetomidine in Critically III Patients. N Engl J Med 2019.
- [69] Miyazaki S, Uchida S, Mukai J, Nishihara K. Clonidine effects on all-night human sleep: opposite action of low- and medium-dose clonidine on human NREM-REM sleep proportion. *Psychiatry* and Clinical Neuroscience 2004;58(2):138–44.

- [70] Huupponen E, Maksimow A, Lapinlampi P, Sarkela M, Saastamoinen A, Snapir A, et al. Electroencephalogram spindle activity during dexmedetomidine sedation and physiological sleep. *Acta Anaesthesiologica Scandinavica* 2008;52(2):289–94.
- [71] Alexopoulou C, Kondili E, Diamantaki E, Psarologakis C, Kokkini S, Bolaki M, et al. Effects of dexmedetomidine on sleep quality in critically ill patients: a pilot study. *Anesthesiology* 2014;121(4):801–7.
- [72] Issa FG. Effect of clonidine in obstructive sleep apnea. American Review of Respiratory Diseases 1992;145(2 Pt 1):435–9.
- [73] Pandharipande PP, Pun B, Herr DI, Maze M, Girard TD, Miller RR, et al. Effect of sedation with dexmedetomidine vs lorazepam on acute brain dysfunction in mechanically ventilated patients : the MENDS randomized controlled trial. *Journal of American Medical Association* 2007;298:2644–53.
- [74] Riker RR, Shehabi Y, Bokesch PM, Ceraso D, Wisemandle W, Koura F, et al. Dexmedetomidine vs midazolam for sedation of critically ill patients: a randomized trial. *Journal of the American Medical Association* 2009;301:489–99.
- [75] Mirski MA, Lewin JJ, 3rd, Ledroux S, Thompson C, Murakami P, Zink EK, et al. Cognitive improvement during continuous sedation in critically ill, awake and responsive patients: the Acute Neurological ICU Sedation Trial (ANIST). *Intensive Care Med* 2010;36(9):1505–13.
- [76] Calvillo O, Ghignone M. Presynaptic effect of clonidine on unmyelinated afferent fibers in the spinal cord of the cat. *Neuroscience Letters* 1986;64:335–9.
- [77] Hood DD, Mallak KA, Eisenach JC, Tong C. Interaction between intrathecal neostigmine and epidural clonidine in human volunteers. *Anesthesiology* 1996;85(2):315–25.
- [78] Harron DW, Riddell JG, Shanks RG. Effects of azepexole and clonidine on baroreceptor-mediated reflex bradycardia and physiological tremor in man *British Journal of Clinical Pharmacology* 1985;20:431–6.
- [79] Tremblay LE, Bedard PJ. Effect of clonidine on motoneuron excitability in spinalised rats. *Neuropharmacology* 1986;25:41–6.
- [80] Bailey PL, Sperry RJ, Johnson GK, Eldredge SJ, East KA, East TD, et al. Respiratory effects of clonidine alone and combined with morphine, in humans. *Anesthesiology* 1991;74(1):43–8.
- [81] Pichot C, Picoche A, Saboya-Steinbach M, Rousseau R, de Guys J, Lahmar M, et al. Combination of clonidine sedation and spontaneous breathing-pressure support upon acute respiratory distress syndrome : a feasability study in four patients. *Acta Anaesthesiologica Belgica* 2012;63(3):127–33.
- [82] Saito J, Amanai E, Hirota K. Dexmedetomidine-treated hyperventilation syndrome triggered by the distress related with a urinary catheter after general anesthesia: a case report. *JA Clin Rep* 2017;3(1):22.
- [83] Jakob SM, Ruokonen E, Grounds RM, Sarapohja T, Garratt C, Pocock SJ, et al. Dexmedetomidine vs midazolam or propofol for sedation during prolonged mechanical ventilation: two randomized controlled trials. *JAMA* 2012;307(11):1151–60.

- [84] Zhang Z, Chen K, Ni H, Zhang X, Fan H. Sedation of mechanically ventilated adults in intensive care unit: a network metaanalysis. *Sci Rep* 2017;7:44979.
- [85] Lindgren BR, Ekstrom T, Andersson RGG. The effects of inhaled clonidine in patients with asthma. *American Review of Respiratory Diseases* 1986;134:266–9.
- [86] Koutsoukou A, Armaganidis A, Stavrakaki-Kallergi C, Vassilakopoulos T, Lymberis A, Roussos C, et al. Expiratory flow limitation and intrinsic positive end-expiratory pressure at zero positive endexpiratory pressure in patients with adult respiratory distress syndrome. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2000;161(5):1590–6.
- [87] Tobias JD. Dexmedetomidine : applications in pediatric ciritical care and pediatric anesthesiology. *Pediatric Critical Care Medicine* 2007;2007:115–31.
- [88] Belleville JP, Ward DS, Bloor BC, Maze M. Effects of intravenous dexmedetomidine in humans. I. Sedation, ventilation, and metabolic rate. *Anesthesiology* 1992;77(6):1125–33.
- [89] Galland C, Ferrand FX, Cividjian A, Sergent A, Pichot C, Ghignone M, et al. Swift recovery of severe hypoxemic pneumonia upon morbid obesity. *Acta Anaesthesiologica Belgica* 2014;65:109–17.
- [90] Petitjeans F, Leroy S, Pichot C, Geloen A, Ghignone M, Quintin L. Hypothesis: Fever control, a niche for alpha-2 agonists in the setting of septic shock and severe acute respiratory distress syndrome? *Temperature (Austin)* 2018;5(3):224–56.
- [91] Quintin L, Viale JP, Annat G, Hoen JP, Butin E, Cottet-Emard JM, et al. Oxygen uptake after major abdominal surgery: effect of clonidine. *Anesthesiology* 1991;74(2):236–41.
- [92] Liatsi D, Tsapas B, Pampori S, Tsagourias M, Pneumatikos I, Matamis D. Respiratory, metabolic and hemodynamic effects of clonidine in ventilated patients presenting with withdrawal syndrome. *Intensive Care Med* 2009;35(2):275–81.
- [93] Takahashi H, Nishikawa T, Mizutani T, Handa F. Oral clonidine premedication decreases energy expenditure in human volunteers. *Can J Anaesth* 1997;44(3):268–72.
- [94] Mokhtari M, Sistanizad M, Farasatinasab M. Antipyretic Effect of Clonidine in Intensive Care Unit Patients: A Nested Observational Study. J Clin Pharmacol 2017;57(1):48–51.
- [95] Kernan S, Rehman S, Meyer T, Bourbeau J, Caron N, Tobias JD. Effects of dexmedetomidine on oxygenation during one-lung ventilation for thoracic surgery in adults. *Journal of Minimal Access Surgery* 2011;7:227–31.
- [96] Huang SQ, Zhang J, Zhang XX, Liu L, Yu Y, Kang XH, et al. Can Dexmedetomidine Improve Arterial Oxygenation and Intrapulmonary Shunt during One-lung Ventilation in Adults Undergoing Thoracic Surgery? A Meta-analysis of Randomized, Placebocontrolled Trials. *Chin Med J (Engl)* 2017;130(14):1707–14.
- [97] But AK, Ozgul U, Erdil F, Gulhas N, Toprak HI, Durmus M, et al. The effects of pre-operative dexmedetomidine infusion on hemodynamics in patients with pulmonary hypertension undergoing mitral valve replacement surgery. *Acta Anaesthesiol Scand* 2006;50(10):1207–12.

- [98] Nathan AT, Marino BS, Hanna B, Nicolson SC. Novel use of dexmedetomidine in a patient with pulmonary hypertension. *Paediatric Anaesthesia* 2008;18(8):782–4.
- [99] Toyama H, Wagatsuma T, Ejima Y, Matsubara M, Kurosawa S. Cesarean section and primary pulmonary hypertension: the role of intravenous dexmedetomidine. *International Journal of Obstetrical Anesthesia* 2009;18(3):262–7.
- [100] Ghignone M, Calvillo O, Quintin L, Noe C, Caple S. Clonidine : a new pulmonary vasodilator. *Critical Care Medicine* 1986;14:344.
- [101] Clementy J, Castagne D, Wicker P, Dallochio M, Bricaud H. Study of the electrophysiologic properties of clonidine administered intravenously. *Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology* 1986;8 (suppl 8):S24–S9.
- [102] Ling X, Zhou H, Ni Y, Wu C, Zhang C, Zhu Z. Does dexmedetomidine have an antiarrhythmic effect on cardiac patients? A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *PLoS One* 2018;13(3):e0193303.
- [103] Stefanadis C, Manolis A, Dernellis J, Tsioufis C, Tsiamis E, Gavras I, et al. Acute effect of clonidine on left ventricular pressure-volume relation in hypertensive patients with diastolic heart dysfunction. *J Hum Hypertens* 2001;15(9):635–42.
- [104] Giles TD, Iteld BJ, Mautner RK, Rognoni PA, Dillenkoffer RL. Short-term effects of intravenous clonidine in congestive heart failure. *Clinical Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 1981;30:724–8.
- [105] Hermiller JB, Magorien RD, Leithe ME, Unverferth DV, Leier CV. Clonidine in congestive heart failure : a vasodilator with negative inotropic effects. *American Journal of Cardiology* 1983;51:791–5.
- [106] Olivari MT, Levine TB, Cohn JN. Acute hemodynamic and hormonal effects of central vs. peripheral sympathetic inhibition in patients with congestive heart failure. *Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology* 1986;8:973–8.
- [107] Manolis AJ, Olympios C, Sifaki M, Handanis S, Bresnahan M, Gavras I, et al. Suppressing sympathetic activation in congestive heart failure. A new therapeutic strategy. *Hypertension* 1995;26(5):719–24.
- [108] Aars H. Effects of clonidine on aortic diameter and aortic baroreceptor activity. *European Journal of Pharmacology* 1972;20:52–9.
- [109] Motz W, Ippisch R, Strauer BE. The role of clonidine in hypertensive heart disease. Influence on myocardial contractility and left ventricular afterload. *Chest* 1983;83 (suppl):433–5.
- [110] Heusch G, Schipke J, Thamer V. Clonidine prevents the sympathetic initiation and aggravation of poststenotic myocardial ischemia. *Journal of Cardiovascular Pharmacology* 1985;7:1176–82.
- [111] Zochowski RJ, Lada W. Intravenous clonidine in acute myocardial infarction in men. *International Journal of Cardiology* 1984;6:189–201.
- [112] Quintin L, Cicala R, Kent M, Thomsen B. Effect of clonidine on myocardial ischemia : a double-blind pilot trial. *Canadian Journal of Anesthesia* 1993;40:85–6.

- [113] Schraub P, Vecchi M, Matthys M, Lecomte B, Ferrara N, Ghignone M, et al. A centrally acting antihypertensive, clonidine, combined to a venous dilator, nitroglycerin, to handle severe pulmonary edema. *American Journal of Emergency Medicine* 2016;34(3):676.
- [114] Geloen A, Pichot C, Leroy S, Julien C, Ghignone M, May CN, et al. Pressor Response to Noradrenaline in the Setting of Septic Shock: Anything New under the Sun-Dexmedetomidine, Clonidine? A Minireview. *Biomed Res Int* 2015;2015:863715.
- [115] Esler M, Dudley F, Jennings G, Debinski H, Lambert G, Jones P, et al. Increased sympathetic nervous activity and the effects of its inhibition with clonidine in alcoholic cirrhosis. *Ann Intern Med* 1992;116(6):446–55.
- [116] Singhal S, Baikati KK, Jabbour, II, Anand S. Management of refractory ascites. *Am J Ther* 2012;19(2):121–32.
- [117] Lenaerts A, Codden T, Meunier JC, Henry JP, Ligny G. Effects of clonidine on diuretic response in ascitic patients with cirrhosis and activation of sympathetic nervous system. *Hepatology* 2006;44(4):844–9.
- [118] Herr DL, Sum-Ping ST, England M. ICU sedation after coronary artery bypass graft surgery: dexmedetomidine-based versus propofol-based sedation regimens. *J Cardiothorac Vasc Anesth* 2003;17(5):576–84.
- [119] Liepert DJ, Townsend GE. Improved hemodynamic and renal function with clonidine in coronary artery bypass grafting. *Anesthesia and Analgesia* 1990;70:S240.
- [120] Kulka PJ, Tryba M, Zenz M. Preoperative alpha-2 adrenergic receptor agonists prevent the deterioration of renal function after cardiac surgery : results of a randomized, controlled trial. *Critical Care Medicine* 1996;24:947–52.
- [121] Tasdogan M, Memis D, Sut N, Yuksel M. Results of a pilot study on the effects of propofol and dexmedetomidine on inflammatory responses and intraabdominal pressure in severe sepsis. *J Clin Anesth* 2009;21(6):394–400.
- [122] Chen C, Huang P, Lai L, Luo C, Ge M, Hei Z, et al. Dexmedetomidine improves gastrointestinal motility after laparoscopic resection of colorectal cancer: A randomized clinical trial. *Medicine (Baltimore)* 2016;95(29):e4295.
- [123] Belhoula M, Ciebiera JP, De La Chapelle A, Boisseau N, Coeurveille D, Raucoules-Aime M. Clonidine premedication improves metabolic control in type 2 diabetic patients during ophthalmic surgery. *Br J Anaesth* 2003;90(4):434–9.
- [124] von Dossow V, Baehr N, Moshirzadeh M, von Heymann C, Braun JP, Hein OV, et al. Clonidine attenuated early proinflammatory response in T-cell subsets after cardiac surgery. *Anesth Analg* 2006;103(4):809–14.
- [125] Li B, Li Y, Tian S, Wang H, Wu H, Zhang A, et al. Anti-inflammatory Effects of Perioperative Dexmedetomidine Administered as an Adjunct to General Anesthesia: A Meta-analysis. *Sci Rep* 2015;5:12342.
- [126] Ueki M, Kawasaki T, Habe K, Hamada K, Kawasaki C, Sata T. The effects of dexmedetomidine on inflammatory mediators after cardiopulmonary bypass. *Anaesthesia* 2014;69(7):693–700.

- [127] Xu B, Makris A, Thornton C, Ogle R, Horvath JS, Hennessy A. Antihypertensive drugs clonidine, diazoxide, hydralazine and furosemide regulate the production of cytokines by placentas and peripheral blood mononuclear cells in normal pregnancy. J Hypertens 2006;24(5):915–22.
- [128] Quenot JP, Ladoire S, Devoucoux F, Doise JM, Cailliod R, Cunin N, et al. Effect of a nurse-implemented sedation protocol on the incidence of ventilator-associated pneumonia. *Crit Care Med* 2007;35(9):2031–6.
- [129] Payen JF, Bru O, Bosson JL, Lagrasta A, Novel E, Deschaux I, et al. Assessing pain in critically ill sedated patients by using a behavioral pain scale. *Critical Care Medicine* 2001;29:2258–63.
- [130] Ely EW, Margolin R, Francis J, May L, Truman B, Dittus R, et al. Evaluation of delirium in critically ill patients: validation of the Confusion Assessment Method for the Intensive Care Unit (CAM-ICU). *Crit Care Med* 2001;29(7):1370–9.
- [131] Sauder P, Andreoletti M, Cambonie G, Capellier G, Feissel M, Gall O, et al. Sedation and analgesia in intensive care. French Critical Care Society. *Annales Francaises d Anesthesie et de Reanimation* 2008;27:541–51.
- [132] Malliani A, Pagani M, Lombardi F, Cerutti S. Cardiovascular neural regulation explored in the frequency domain. *Circulation* 1991;84(2):482–92.
- [133] Task force of the European Society of C, the North American Society of P, Electrophysiology. Heart rate variability : standards of measurement, physiological interpretation and clinical use. *Circulation* 1996;93:1043–65.
- [134] Cataldo A, Bianco A, Paoli A, Cerasola D, Alagna S, Messina G, et al. Resting sympatho-vagal balance is related to 10 km running performance in master endurance athletes. *Eur J Transl Myol* 2018;28(1):7051.
- [135] Pichot C, Petitjeans F, Ghignone M, Quintin L. Is there a place for pressure support ventilation and high end-expiratory pressure combined to alpha-2 agonists early in severe diffuse acute respiratory distress syndrome ? *Medical Hypotheses* 2013;80(6):732–7.
- [136] Pichot C, Petitjeans F, Ghignone G, Quintin L. Spontaneous ventilation-high PEEP upon severe ARDS : an erratum to further the analysis. *Medical Hypotheses* 2013;81(5):966–7.
- [137] Petitjeans F, Pichot C, Ghignone M, Quintin L. Building on the Shoulders of Giants: Is the use of Early Spontaneous Ventilation in the Setting of Severe Diffuse Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome Actually Heretical? *Turk J Anaesthesiol Reanim* 2018;46(5):339–47.
- [138] Petitjeans F, Martinez J, Danguy des Deserts M, Leroy S, Quintin L, Escarment J. A centrally acting antihypertensive, clonidine, sedates patients presenting with acute res-piratory distress syndrome evoked by SARS-coronavirus 2. *Critical Care Medicine* 2020;in press.
- [139] De Backer D, Donadello K, Taccone FS, Ospina-Tascon G, Salgado D, Vincent JL. Microcirculatory alterations: potential

mechanisms and implications for therapy. *Ann Intensive Care* 2011;1(1):27.

- [140] Ince C. Hemodynamic coherence and the rationale for monitoring the microcirculation. *Crit Care* 2015;19 Suppl 3:S8.
- [141] Pichot C, Geloen A, Ghignone M, Quintin L. Alpha-2 agonists to reduce vasopressor requirements in septic shock? *Medical Hypotheses* 2010;75:652–6.
- [142] Spanagel R. Aberrant choice behavior in alcoholism. Science 2018;360(6395):1298–9.
- [143] Mayo-Smith MF, Beecher LH, Fischer TL, Gorelick DA, Guillaume JL, Hill A, et al. Management of alcohol withdrawal delirium. An evidence-based practice guideline. *Arch Intern Med* 2004;164(13):1405–12.
- [144] Vourc'h M, Feuillet F, Mahe PJ, Sebille V, Asehnoune K, group Bt. Baclofen to prevent agitation in alcohol-addicted patients in the ICU: study protocol for a randomised controlled trial. *Trials* 2016;17(1):415.
- [145] Toader E, Cividjian A, Rentero N, McAllen RM, Quintin L. Cardioinhibitory actions of clonidine assessed by cardiac vagal motoneuron recordings. *Journal of Hypertension* 2008;26(6):1169–80.
- [146] Schlager E, Meier T. A strange Balinese method of inducing sleep with some notes about balyans. Acta Trop 1947;4(2):127–34.
- [147] Onesti G, Bock KD, Heimsoth V, Kim KE, Merguet P. Clonidine: a new antihypertensive agent. *American Journal of Cardiology* 1971;28(1):74–83.
- [148] Nobrega AC, O'Leary D, Silva BM, Marongiu E, Piepoli MF, Crisafulli A. Neural regulation of cardiovascular response to exercise: role of central command and peripheral afferents. *Biomed Res Int* 2014;2014:478965.
- [149] Takayama K, Yuhki K, Ono K, Fujino T, Hara A, Yamada T, et al. Thromboxane A2 and prostaglandin F2alpha mediate inflammatory tachycardia. *Nat Med* 2005;11(5):562–6.
- [150] Connor DF, Findling RL, Kollins SH, Sallee F, Lopez FA, Lyne A, et al. Effects of guanfacine extended release on oppositional symptoms in children aged 6-12 years with attentiondeficit hyperactivity disorder and oppositional symptoms: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. *CNS Drugs* 2010;24(9):755–68.
- [151] White PF. What are the advantages of non-opioid analgesic techniques in the management of acute and chronic pain? *Expert Opin Pharmacother* 2017;18(4):329–33.
- [152] Ely EW, Shintani A, Truman B, Speroff T, Gordon SM, Harrell FE, Jr., et al. Delirium as a predictor of mortality in mechanically ventilated patients in the intensive care unit. *JAMA* 2004;291(14):1753–62.
- [153] Constantin JM, Godet T, James A, Monsel A. A small step for sedation that may become a giant leap for critical care medicine. *Anaesth Crit Care Pain Med* 2019;38(5):425–7.
- [154] Wu XH, Cui F, Zhang C, Meng ZT, Wang DX, Ma J, et al. Low-dose Dexmedetomidine Improves Sleep Quality Pattern

in Elderly Patients after Noncardiac Surgery in the Intensive Care Unit: A Pilot Randomized Controlled Trial. *Anesthesiology* 2016;125(5):979–91.

- [155] Bourne RS, Mills GH, Minelli C. Melatonin therapy to improve nocturnal sleep in critically ill patients: encouraging results from a small randomised controlled trial. *Crit Care* 2008;12(2):R52.
- [156] Jaiswal SJ, McCarthy TJ, Wineinger NE, Kang DY, Song J, Garcia S, et al. Melatonin and sleep in preventing hospitalized delirium: A randomized clinical trial(,,,,). *Am J Med* 2018.
- [157] Triltsch AE, Welte M, von HP, Grosse J, Genahr A, Moshirzadeh M, et al. Bispectral index-guided sedation with dexmedetomidine in intensive care: a prospective, randomized, double blind, placebo-controlled phase II study. *Critical Care Medicine* 2002;30:1007–14.
- [158] Jozwiak M, Hamzaoui O, Monnet X, Teboul JL. Fluid resuscitation during early sepsis: a need for individualization. *Minerva Anestesiol* 2018;84(8):987–92.
- [159] Hamzaoui O, Teboul JL. Importance of diastolic arterial pressure in septic shock: PRO. J Crit Care 2019;51:238–40.
- [160] Geloen A, Chapelier K, Cividjian A, Dantony E, Rabilloud M, May CN, et al. Clonidine and dexmedetomidine increase the pressor response to norepinephrine in experimental sepsis: a pilot study. *Crit Care Med* 2013;41(12):e431–8.
- [161] Lankadeva YR, Booth LC, Kosaka J, Evans RG, Quintin L, Bellomo R, et al. Clonidine Restores Pressor Responsiveness to Phenylephrine and Angiotensin II in Ovine Sepsis. *Crit Care Med* 2015;43(7):e221–9.
- [162] Cioccari L, Luethi N, Bailey M, Shehabi Y, Howe B, Messmer AS, et al. The effect of dexmedetomidine on vasopressor requirements in patients with septic shock: a subgroup analysis of the Sedation Practice in Intensive Care Evaluation [SPICE III] Trial. *Crit Care* 2020;24(1):441.
- [163] Schortgen F, Clabault K, Katsahian S, Devaquet J, Mercat A, Deye N, et al. Fever control using external cooling in septic shock: a randomized controlled trial. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2012;185(10):1088–95.
- [164] Clemmer TP, Fisher CJ, Jr., Bone RC, Slotman GJ, Metz CA, Thomas FO. Hypothermia in the sepsis syndrome and clinical outcome. The Methylprednisolone Severe Sepsis Study Group. *Crit Care Med* 1992;20(10):1395–401.
- [165] Spronk PE, Ince C, Gardien MJ, Mathura KR, Oudemans-van Straaten HM, Zandstra DF. Nitroglycerin in septic shock after intravascular volume resuscitation. *Lancet* 2002;360(9343):1395–6.
- [166] Miyamoto K, Nakashima T, Shima N, Kato S, Ueda K, Kawazoe Y, et al. Effect of Dexmedetomidine on Lactate Clearance in Patients with Septic Shock: A Sub-Analysis of a Multicenter Randomized Controlled Trial. *Shock* 2017;50(2):162-6.
- [167] De Kock M, Laterre PF, Van Obbergh L, Carlier M, Lerut J. The effects of intraoperative intravenous clonidine on fluid requirements, hemodynamic variables, and support during liver transplantation : a prospective, randomized study. *Anesthesia* and Analgesia 1998;86:468–76.

- [168] Kulka PJ, Tryba M, Reimer T, Weisser H. Clonidine prevents tissue-malperfusion during extracorporal circulation. *Anesthe*sia and Analgesia 1996;82:S254.
- [169] Quenot JP, Binquet C, Pavon A. Cardiovascular collapse: lack of understanding or failure to anticipate heart-lung interaction? . *Reanimation (Paris)* 2012;21:710–4.
- [170] Monnet X, Teboul JL. Passive leg raising. Intensive Care Med 2008;34(4):659–63.
- [171] Vieillard-Baron A, Evrard B, Repesse X, Maizel J, Jacob C, Goudelin M, et al. Limited value of end-expiratory inferior vena cava diameter to predict fluid responsiveness impact of intraabdominal pressure. *Intensive Care Med* 2018;44(2):197–203.
- [172] Vieillard-Baron A, Chergui K, Rabiller A, Peyrouset O, Page B, Beauchet A, et al. Superior vena caval collapsibility as a gauge of volume status in ventilated septic patients. *Intensive Care Med* 2004;30(9):1734–9.
- [173] Chatterjee K. The fear of beta-blocker therapy in heart failure: time to forget. Arch Intern Med 2004;164(13):1370–1.
- [174] Permutt S. Circulatory effects of weaning from mechanical ventilation: the importance of transdiaphragmatic pressure. *Anesthesiology* 1988;69(2):157–60.
- [175] Persichini R, Silva S, Teboul JL, Jozwiak M, Chemla D, Richard C, et al. Effects of norepinephrine on mean systemic pressure and venous return in human septic shock. *Crit Care Med* 2012;40(12):3146–53.
- [176] Page B, Vieillard-Baron A, Beauchet A, Aegerter P, Prin S, Jardin F. Low stretch ventilation strategy in acute respiratory distress syndrome: eight years of clinical experience in a single center. *Crit Care Med* 2003;31(3):765–9.
- [177] Chanques G, Jaber S, Jung B, Payen JF. Sédation-analgésie en réanimation de l'adulte. *Encyclopedie Medico-Chirurgicale, Anesthésie Reanimation* 2013;10(4):1–12.
- [178] Wrigge H, Downs JB, Hedenstierna G, Putensen C. Paralysis during mechanical ventilation in acute respiratory distress syndrome: back to the future? *Crit Care Med* 2004;32(7):1628-9; author reply 9–30.
- [179] Slutsky AS, Villar J. Early Paralytic Agents for ARDS? Yes, No, and Sometimes. N Engl J Med 2019;380(21):2061–3.
- [180] National Heart L, Blood Institute PCTN, Moss M, Huang DT, Brower RG, Ferguson ND, et al. Early Neuromuscular Blockade in the Acute Respiratory Distress Syndrome. N Engl J Med 2019;380(21):1997–2008.
- [181] Papazian L, Forel JM, Gacouin A, Penot-Ragon C, Perrin G, Loundou A, et al. Neuromuscular blockers in early acute respiratory distress syndrome. *N Engl J Med* 2010;363(12):1107–16.
- [182] Guerin C, Reignier J, Richard JC, Beuret P, Gacouin A, Boulain T, et al. Prone positioning in severe acute respiratory distress syndrome. N Engl J Med 2013;368(23):2159–68.
- [183] Dellamonica J, Lerolle N, Sargentini C, Hubert S, Beduneau G, Di Marco F, et al. Effect of different seated positions on lung volume and oxygenation in acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Intensive Care Med* 2013;39(6):1121–7.

- [184] Flacke JW, Bloor BC, Flacke WE, Wong D, Dazza S, Stead SW, et al. Reduced narcotic requirement by clonidine with improved hemodynamic and adrenergic stability in patients undergoing coronary bypass surgery. *Anesthesiology* 1987;67:11–9.
- [185] Pichot C, Petitjeans F, Ghignone G, Quintin L. Commentary : Spontaneous ventilation in the setting of early severe stabilized ARDS: heresy? Austin Journal of Pulmonary and Respiratory Medicine 2016;3(2):1046 (1–8).
- [186] Vallee F, Vallet B, Mathe O, Parraguette J, Mari A, Silva S, et al. Central venous-to-arterial carbon dioxide difference: an additional target for goal-directed therapy in septic shock? *Intensive Care Med* 2008;34(12):2218–25.
- [187] Mekontso DA, Charron C, Devaquet J, Aboab J, Jardin F, Brochard L, et al. Impact of acute hypercapnia and augmented positive end-expiratory pressure on right ventricle function in severe acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Intensive Care Med* 2009;35(11):1850–8.
- [188] Jozwiak M, Silva S, Persichini R, Anguel N, Osman D, Richard C, et al. Extravascular lung water is an independent prognostic factor in patients with acute respiratory distress syndrome. *Crit Care Med* 2013;41(2):472–80.
- [189] Brodsky JB, Bravo JJ. Acute postoperative clonidine withdrawal syndrome. *Anesthesiology* 1976;44(6):519–20.
- [190] Arndts D. New aspects of the clinical pharmacology of clonidine. Chest 1983;83(2 Suppl):397–400.
- [191] Gagnon DJ, Riker RR, Glisic EK, Kelner A, Perrey HM, Fraser GL. Transition from dexmedetomidine to enteral clonidine for ICU sedation: an observational pilot study. *Pharmacotherapy* 2015;35(3):251–9.
- [192] Quintin L, Ghignone M. Risks associated with perioperative use of alpha-2 adrenoceptors agonists. In: Scholz J, Tonner PH, editors. Alpha-2 adrenoceptor agonists in anaesthesia and intensive care. London: Harcourt; 2000. p. 347–68.
- [193] Zoukos Y, Thomaides T, Pavitt DV, Leonard JP, Cuzner ML, Mathias CJ. Upregulation of beta adrenoceptors on circulating mononuclear cells after reduction of central sympathetic outflow by clonidine in normal subjects. *Clinical Autonomic Research* 1992;2:165–70.
- [194] Robertson D, Goldberg MR, Hollister AS, Wade D, Robertson RM. Clonidine raises blood pressure in severe idiopathic orthostatic hypotension. *American Journal of Medicine* 1983;74(2):193–200.
- [195] Shehabi Y, Ruettimann U, Adamson H, Innes R, Ickeringill M. Dexmedetomidine infusion for more than 24 hours in critically ill patients: sedative and cardiovascular effects. *Intensive Care Medicine* 2004;30:2188–96.
- [196] Ingersoll-Weng E, Manecke GRTPA. Dexmedetomidine and cardiac arrest. *Anesthesiology* 2004;100:738–9.
- [197] Hui C, Cardinale M, Yegneswaran B. Significant Bradycardia in Critically III Patients Receiving Dexmedetomidine and Fentanyl. Case Rep Crit Care 2017;2017:4504207.

- [198] Deletombe B, Trouve-Buisson T, Godon A, Falcon D, Giorgis-Allemand L, Bouzat P, et al. Dexmedetomidine to facilitate noninvasive ventilation after blunt chest trauma: A randomised, double-blind, crossover, placebo-controlled pilot study. *Anaesth Crit Care Pain Med* 2019;38(5):477–83.
- [199] Sartini C, Tresoldi M, Scarpellini P, Tettamanti A, Carco F, Landoni G, et al. Respiratory Parameters in Patients With CO-VID-19 After Using Noninvasive Ventilation in the Prone Position Outside the Intensive Care Unit. JAMA 2020.
- [200] Carrasco G, Baeza N, Cabre L, Portillo E, Gimeno G, Manzanedo D, et al. Dexmedetomidine for the Treatment of Hyperactive Delirium Refractory to Haloperidol in Nonintubated ICU Patients: A Nonrandomized Controlled Trial. *Crit Care Med* 2016;44(7):1295–306.
- [201] Lichtfield NB. Complications of intravenous diazepam: respiratory depression (an assessment of 16 000 cases). Anesthesia Progress 1981;29(1):11–7.
- [202] Benhamou D, Veillette Y, Narchi P, Ecoffey C. Ventilatory effects of premedication with clonidine. *Anesthesia and Analgesia* 1991;73:799–803.
- [203] Kruger BD, Kurmann J, Corti N, Spahn DR, Bettex D, Rudiger A. Dexmedetomidine-Associated Hyperthermia: A Series of 9 Cases and a Review of the Literature. *Anesth Analg* 2017;125(6):1898–906.
- [204] Myers RD, Beleslin DB, Rezvani AH. Hypothermia: role of alpha 1- and alpha 2-noradrenergic receptors in the hypothalamus of the cat. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 1987;26(2):373–9.
- [205] Madden CJ, Tupone D, Cano G, Morrison SF. alpha2 Adrenergic receptor-mediated inhibition of thermogenesis. *J Neurosci* 2013;33(5):2017–28.
- [206] Ma H, Tang J, White PF, Wender RH, Leverone T, Quon R, et al. The effect of clonidine on gastrointestinal side effects associated with ultra-rapid opioid detoxification. *Anesth Analg* 2003;96(5):1409–12, table of contents.
- [207] Bear R, Steer K. Pseudo-obstruction due to clonidine. British Medical Journal 1976;1(6003):197.
- [208] Stieger DS, Cantieni R, Frutiger A. Acute colonic pseudoobstruction (Ogilvie's syndrome) in two patients receiving high dose clonidine for delirium tremens. *Intensive Care Medicine* 1997;23(7):780–2.
- [209] Virtanen R, Savola JM, Saano V, Nyman L. Characterization of the selectivity, specificity and potency of medetomidine as an alpha 2-adrenoceptor agonist. *Eur J Pharmacol* 1988;150(1-2):9–14.
- [210] Wing LM, Reid JL, Davies DS, Dargie HJ, Dollery CT. Apparent resistance to hypotensive effect of clonidine. *British Medical Journal* 1977;1(6054):136–8.
- [211] Frisk-Holmberg M, Paalzow L, Wibell L. Relationship between the cardiovascular effects and steady-state kinetics of clonidine in hypertension. Demonstration of a therapeutic window in man. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol* 1984;26(3):309-13.

- [212] Erkonen G, Lamb F, Tobias JD. High-dose dexmedetomidineinduced hypertension in a child with traumatic brain injury. *Neurocritical Care* 2008;9(3):366–9.
- [213] Lonnqvist PA, Bergendahl HT, Eksborg S. Pharmacokinetics of clonidine after rectal administration in children. *Anesthesiology* 1994;81(5):1097–101.
- [214] Liu D, Reade MC, editors. Central alpha-2 adrenoreceptor agonists in intensive care. Annual update in intensive care and emergency medicine 2018; 2018: Springer.
- [215] Longrois D, Quintin L. Dexmedetomidine: Superiority trials needed? Anaesth Crit Care Pain Med 2016;35(3):237-8.
- [216] Segal IS, Vickery RG, Walton JK, Doze VA, Maze M. Dexmedetomidine diminishes halothane anesthetic requirements in rats through a postsynaptic alpha-2 adrenergic receptor. *Anesthesiology* 1988;69:818–23.
- [217] Quintin L, Gonon F, Buda M, Ghignone M, Hilaire G, Pujol JF. Clonidine modulates locus coeruleus metabolic hyperactivity induced by stress in behaving rats. *Brain Research* 1986;362:366–9.
- [218] Guyenet P, Schreihofer AM, Stornetta RL. Regulation of sympathetic tone and arterial pressure by the rostral ventrolateral medulla after depletion of C1 cells in rats. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences* 2001;940:259–69.
- [219] Schreihofer AM, Guyenet PG. Role of presympathetic C1 neurons in the sympatholytic and hypotensive effects of clonidine in rats. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol* 2000;279(5):R1753–62.
- [220] Sun MK, Guyenet P. Effect of clonidine and gamma-aminobutyric acid on the discharges of medullo-spinal sympathoexcitatory neurons in the rat. *Brain Research* 1986;368:1–17.
- [221] Parlow J, Viale JP, Annat G, Hughson RL, Quintin L. Spontaneous cardiac baroreflex in humans : comparison with druginduced responses. *Hypertension* 1995;25:1058–68.
- [222] Smyth HS, Sleight P, Pickering GW. Reflex regulation of arterial pressure during sleep in man. *Circulation Research* 1969;24:109–21.
- [223] DeBoer RW, Karemaker JM, Strackee J. Hemodynamic fluctuations and baroreflex sensitivity in humans: a beat-to-beat model. *American Journal of Physiology* 1987;253:H680–H9.
- [224] Saunier CF, Akaoka H, de La Chapelle B, Charlety PJ, Chergui K, Chouvet G, et al. Activation of brain noradrenergic neurons during recovery from halothane anesthesia : persistence of phasic activation after clonidine. *Anesthesiology* 1993;79:1072–82.
- [225] Servan-Schreiber D, Printz H, Cohen JD. A network model of catecholamine effects : gain, signal-to-noise ratio, and behavior. *Science* 1990;249:892–5.
- [226] Aston-Jones G, Cohen JD. Adaptative gain and the role of the locus coeruleus-norepinephrine system in optimal performance. *Journal of Comparative Neurology* 2005;493:99–110.
- [227] McAllister TW, McDonald BC, Flashman LA, Ferrell RB, Tosteson TD, Yanofsky NN, et al. Alpha-2 adrenergic challenge with guanfacine one month after mild traumatic brain injury: altered

working memory and BOLD response. *Int J Psychophysiol* 2011;82(1):107–14.

- [228] Snapir A, Posti J, Kentala E, Koskenvuo J, Sundell J, Tuunanen H, et al. Effects of low and high plasma concentrations of dexmedetomidine on myocardial perfusion and cardiac function in healthy male subjects. *Anesthesiology* 2006;105(5):902-10; quiz 1069–70.
- [229] Katona PG, Barnett GO. Central origin of asymmetry in the carotid sinus reflex. AnnNYAcadSci 1969;156:779-86.
- [230] Borst C, Wieling W, van Brederode JF, Hond A, de Rijk LG, Dunning AJ. Mechanisms of initial heart rate response to postural change. *AmJPhysiol* 1982;243(5):H676–H81.
- [231] Craig AD. How do you feel? Interoception: the sense of the physiological condition of the body. *Nat Rev Neurosci* 2002;3(8):655–66.
- [232] Prys-Roberts C. Regulation of the circulation. In: Prys-Roberts C, editor. The circulation in anaesthesia : applied physiology and pharmacology. Oxford: Blackwell; 1980. p. 179–207.
- [233] Monnet X, Marik P, Teboul JL. Passive leg raising for predicting fluid responsiveness: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Intensive Care Med* 2016;42(12):1935–47.
- [234] Reade MC, Finfer S. Sedation and delirium in intensive care. N Engl J Med 2014;370(16):1567.
- [235] Skrobik Y, Duprey MS, Hill NS, Devlin JW. Low-dose Nocturnal Dexmedetomidine Prevents ICU Delirium: A Randomized, Placebo-controlled Trial. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2018.
- [236] Metz G, Nebel B. Clonidine in severe alcohol withdrawal delirium. *Fortschrift Medizin* 1983;101:1260–4.
- [237] Bohrer H, Bach A, Layer M, Werming P. Clonidine as a sedative adjunct in intensive care. *Intensive Care Medicine* 1990;16:265–6.
- [238] Spies CD, Dubisz N, Neumann T, Blum S, Muller C, Rommelspacher H, et al. Therapy of alcohol withdrawal syndrome in intensive care unit patients following trauma: results of a prospective, randomized trial. *Critical Care Medicine* 1996;24(3):414–22.
- [239] Devlin JW, Roberts RJ, Fong JJ, Skrobik Y, Riker RR, Hill NS, et al. Efficacy and safety of quetiapine in critically ill patients with delirium: a prospective, multicenter, randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled pilot study. *Crit Care Med* 2010;38(2):419–27.
- [240] Gold MS, Redmond DE, Kleber HD. Clonidine blocks acute opiate-withdrawal symptoms. *Lancet* 1978;2:599–602.
- [241] Ghignone M, Calvillo O, Quintin L. Anesthesia and Hypertension : the effect of clonidine on perioperative hemodynamics and isoflurane requirements. *Anesthesiology* 1987;67:3–10.

- [242] Ghignone M, Noe C, Calvillo O, Quintin L. Anesthesia for ophthalmic surgery in the elderly : the effects of clonidine on intraocular pressure, perioperative hemodynamics and anesthetic requirements. *Anesthesiology* 1988;68:707–16.
- [243] Glassman AH, Jackson WK, Walsh BT, Roose SP, Rosenfeld B. Cigarette craving, smoking withdrawal and clonidine. *Science* 1984;226:864–6.
- [244] Gold MS, Pottash AL, Extein I, Kleber HD. Clonidine and opiate withdrawal. *Lancet* 1980;2(8203):1078–9.
- [245] Guinot PG, Spitz A, Berthoud V, Ellouze O, Missaoui A, Constandache T, et al. Effect of opioid-free anaesthesia on postoperative period in cardiac surgery: a retrospective matched case-control study. *BMC Anesthesiol* 2019;19(1):136.
- [246] Quintin L, Bouilloc X, Butin E, Bayon MC, Brudon JR, Levron JC, et al. Clonidine for aortic surgery in hypertensive patients : a double blind controlled randomized study. *Anesthesia and Analgesia* 1996;83:687–95.
- [247] McAllen RM, Spyer KM. The baroreceptor input to cardiac vagal motoneurones. *Journal of Physiology* 1978;282:365–74.
- [248] Westlund KN, Craig AD. Association of spinal lamina I projections with brainstem catecholamine neurons in the monkey. *Exp Brain Res* 1996;110(2):151–62.
- [249] Sato A, Schmidt RF. Somatosympathetic reflexes : afferent fibers, central pathways, discharge characteristics. *Physiological Reviews* 1973;53:916–47.
- [250] Morrison SF, Reis DJ. Reticulospinal vasomotor neurons in the RVL mediate the somatosympathetic reflex. *American Journal* of *Physiology* 1989;256:R1084–R97.
- [251] Pichot C, Ghignone M, Quintin L. Alpha-2 agonists as first-line sedative agents in hyperammonemia-induced hyperactivity? . *Paediatric Anaesthesia* 2013;23(9):878–90.
- [252] Davies CT, Neilson JM. Disturbance of heart rhythm during recovery from exercise in man. J Appl Physiol 1967;22(5):943–6.
- [253] De Mey JG, Vanhoutte PM. Differences in pharmacological properties of postjunctional alpha-adrenergic receptors among arteries and veins. *Arch Int Pharmacodyn Ther* 1980;244(2):328–9.
- [254] Shimamura K, Toba M, Kimura S, Ohashi A, Kitamura K. Clonidine induced endothelium-dependent tonic contraction in circular muscle of the rat hepatic portal vein. J Smooth Muscle Res 2006;42(2-3):63–74.
- [255] Yu T, Huang Y, Guo F, Yang Y, Teboul JL, Qiu H. The effects of propofol and dexmedetomidine infusion on fluid responsiveness in critically ill patients. J Surg Res 2013;185(2):763–73.